

Aripiprazole Sertraline Combination Effectiveness

CLINICAL TRIAL PROTOCOL

Full Title:	Aripiprazole/sertraline combination: clinical and cost- effectiveness in comparison with quetiapine for the treatment of bipolar depression. An open label randomised controlled trial.
Short Title/Acronym:	ASCEnD
Protocol Version Number and Date:	V3.0 11/09/2024
Previous Versions:	N/A

RESEARCH REFERENCE NUMBERS

IRAS Number:	1007468
NHS Research Ethics Committee (REC) Reference:	23/NE/0132
Research Registry and References:	ISRCTN63917405

RESEARCH SPONSOR

Sponsor Name:	Cumbria, Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust (CNTW)
Sponsor Reference:	RES-20-032

RESEARCH FUNDER

	National Institute for Health and Care Research. Call: 19/130
	Bipolar Disorder National Institute for Health and Care Research
Funder(s) Name:	(NIHR) Health Technology Assessment (HTA) Programme.
	REWARD (Optional Mechanistic) Study is funded by an internal
	PhD scholarship awarded from Newcastle University.

This project is funded by the NIHR HTA Programme (project reference number NIHR132773). The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the NIHR or the Department of Health and Social Care.

This protocol has regard for the Health Research Authority (HRA) guidance.

PROTOCOL APPROVAL SIGNATURE PAGE

The undersigned confirm that the following protocol has been agreed and accepted. The Chief Investigator (CI) agrees to conduct the trial in compliance with the approved protocol and will adhere to the principles outlined in the Medicines for Human Use (Clinical Trials) Regulations 2004 (SI 2004/1031), amended regulations (SI 2006/1928) and any subsequent amendments of the clinical trial regulations, Good Clinical Practice (GCP) guidelines, the relevant Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) and other regulatory requirements as amended.

I agree to ensure that the confidential information contained in this document will not be used for any other purpose other than the evaluation or conduct of the clinical investigation without the prior written consent of the Sponsor.

I also confirm that I will make the findings of the trial publicly available through publication or other dissemination tools without any unnecessary delay and that an honest accurate and transparent account of the trial will be given; and that any discrepancies and serious breaches of GCP from the trial as planned in this protocol will be explained.

Representat	tive of the Research Sponsor
Name:	Ms Lyndsey Dixon
Position:	Research and Development Manager and Regulatory Compliance Lead
Signature:	Date:
Chief Invest	igator
Name:	Dr Stuart Watson
Position:	Clinical Senior Lecturer in Psychiatry and Honorary Consultant Psychiatrist
Signature:	Date:
Statistician	
Name:	Professor Dawn Teare
Position:	Professor of Biostatistics and Deputy Director of Newcastle Clinical Trials Unit
Signature:	Date:
Health Econ	omist
Name:	Professor Judit Simon
Position:	Professor of Health Economics and Head of Department
Signature:	Date:
Newcastle G	Clinical Trials Unit
Name:	Professor Helen Hancock
Position:	Director of Newcastle Clinical Trials Unit
Signature:	Date:

PROTOCOL ACCEPTANCE SIGNATURE PAGE

Short Study Title: ASCEnD

Principal Investigator (PI)

I have carefully read and understood protocol version 3.0. I agree to conduct the trial in compliance with Good Clinical Practice and all required regulatory requirements.

Name:

Position:

Signature:

Date:

KEY TRIAL CONTACTS

Chief Investigator	Dr Stuart Watson
-	Clinical Senior Lecturer in Psychiatry and Honorary Consultant Psychiatrist
	Northern Centre for Mood Disorders
	Newcastle University Translational and Clinical Research Institute
	Wolfson Research Centre
	Campus for Ageing and Vitality
	Newcastle upon Tyne
	NE4 5PL
	Email: stuart.watson@newcastle.ac.uk/
	Stuart.watson@cntw.nhs.uk (for clinical queries)
Deputy Chief	Dr Niraj Ahuja
Investigator	Consultant Psychiatrist
	Regional Affective Disorders Service
	Wolfson Research Centre
	Campus for Ageing and Vitality
	Newcastle upon Tyne
	NE4 5PL
	Email: niraj.ahuja@cntw.nhs.uk
Newcastle Clinical	Dr Faye Wolstenhulme (Senior Trial Manager)
Trials Unit	Dr Emma Clark (Trial Manager)
	Mrs Ayesha Mathias (Trial Manager)
	Mr Christopher Weetman (Database Manager)
	Ms Alison Liddle (Trial Administrator)
	Newcastle Clinical Trials Unit
	Newcastle University
	1-4 Claremont Terrace
	Newcastle Upon Tyne
	NE2 4AE
	Email: ascend@newcastle.ac.uk
Sponsor	Ms Lyndsey Dixon (R&D Manager and Regulatory Compliance Lead)
	Cumbria, Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust
	St. Nicholas Hospital
	Jubilee Road
	Gosforth
	Newcastle
	NE3 3XT
	Email: <u>cntwsponsormanagement@cntw.nhs.uk</u>
Funder	NIHR HTA Programme
	Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre
	University of Southampton
	Enterprise Road
	Southampton
	Tel: +44 (0) 238 059 558

National Clinical Support Team (for out of hours support 5pm – 9am)	Cumbria, Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust Initial Response Service Tel: +44(0) 303 123 1145
Central Research Assistants (cRA) email	ASCEnD@cntw.nhs.uk
Newcastle Clinical Trials Unit (NCTU) Secure Email	nctu.ascend.conf@nhs.net
Email for Serious Adverse Event (SAE) Reporting	nctu.ascend.sae@nhs.net
Trial Website	www.ascendtrial.co.uk
Trial Steering Committee (TSC) Chair	Professor Anthony Cleare Professor of Psychopharmacology & Affective Disorders Department of Psychological Medicine Institute of Psychiatry King's College London SE5 8AF Email: <u>Anthony.Cleare@kcl.ac.uk</u>
Data Monitoring Committee (DMC) Chair	Professor Allan Young Chair of Mood Disorders Department of Psychological Medicine Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience Kings College London WC2R 2LS Email: <u>Allan.Young@kcl.ac.uk</u>

Co-applicants	Professor Helen Hancock
	Director of Newcastle Clinical Trials Unit
	Newcastle Clinical Trials Unit
	Newcastle University
	1-4 Claremont Terrace
	Newcastle Upon Tyne
	NE2 4AE
	Email: helen.hancock@newcastle.ac.uk
	Professor Dawn Teare
	Professor of Biostatistics
	Newcastle Clinical Trials Unit
	Newcastle University
	1-4 Claremont Terrace
	Newcastle Upon Tyne
	NE2 4AE
	Email: <u>dawn.teare@newcastle.ac.uk</u>
	Mr Michael Cole
	Statistician
	Population Health Sciences Institute
	Newcastle University
	Queen Victoria Road
	Newcastle upon Tyne
	NE1 7RU
	Email: michael.cole@newcastle.ac.uk
	Dr Neil Nixon
	Associate Professor in Psychiatry
	University of Nottingham Medical School
	Nottingham
	NG7 2UH
	Email: <u>Neil.Nixon@nottingham.ac.uk</u>
	Professor Andrea Cipriani
	Professor of Psychiatry
	Department of Psychiatry
	Warneford Hospital
	Oxford
	Email: andrea.cipriani@psycn.ox.ac.uk
	Professor Glyn Lewis
	Professor of Epidemiological Psychiatry
	University College London
	Maple House
	Dr Jonathan Evans
	Consultant Senior Lecturer
	Dopulation Health Sciences
	Rristol Medical School
	Bristol
	BS8 2BN
	Email: i evans@bristol.ac.uk
	Lindin <u>Jevunge onstonacian</u>

Professor David Kessler Professor of Primary Care Mental Health **Population Health Sciences Bristol Medical School** Bristol **BS8 2BN** Email: David.Kessler@bristol.ac.uk **Professor Judit Simon** Professor of Health Economics and Head of Department **Department of Health Economics Centre for Public Health** Medical University of Vienna 1090 Vienna, Austria Email: judit.simon@meduniwien.ac.at **Professor Carolyn Chew-Graham Professor of General Practice Research** Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences David Weatherall Building **Keele University** Staffordshire ST5 5BG Email: <u>c.a.chew-graham@keele.ac.uk</u> Dr Tania Gergel Chief Executive of Bipolar UK 32 Cubitt Street London WC1X OLR **Email:** tgergel@bipolaruk.org **Professor Yan Yiannokou** Director of the Newcastle NIHR Patient Recruitment Centre Westgate Road Newcastle upon Tyne NE4 6BE Email: yan.yiannakou@nhs.net **Dr Thomas Kabir** Senior Researcher University of Oxford Wellington Square Oxford OX1 2JD Email: thomaskabir@psy.ox.ac.uk Dr Sarah Sowden Advanced Clinical Academic Fellow/Honorary Consultant in Public Health **Population Health Sciences Institute** Newcastle University Newcastle-upon-Tyne NE1 7RU Email: Sarah.Sowden@ncl.ac.uk

Collaborators	Professor Hamish McAllister-Williams Professor of Affective Disorders Northern Centre for Mood Disorders Newcastle University Translational and Clinical Research Institute Wolfson Research Centre
	Campus for Ageing and Vitality
	Newcastle upon Tyne
	NE4 5PL
	Email: <u>hamish.mcallister-williams@newcastle.ac.uk</u>
	Professor Richard Morriss
	Professor of Psychiatry and Community Health Science
	Nottingham
	NG7 2RD
	Email: <u>Richard.Morriss@nottingham.ac.uk</u>
	Professor John Geddes
	Director of the Oxford Health NIHR Biomedical Research Centre
	Warneford Hospital
	Oxford
	Email: john geddes@nsych ox ac uk
	Lindi. John.geddes@psych.ox.de.dk
Other Protocol	Professor Steven Marwaha
Contributors	Professor of Psychiatry
	School of Psychology
	Liniversity of Birmingham
	Edgbaston
	Birmingham
	B15 2TT
	Email: <u>s.marwaha@bham.ac.uk</u>
	Dr Alessandro Colasanti
	Senior Clinical Lecturer in Psychiatry and Consultant Psychiatrist
	Department of Clinical Neuroscience and Neuroimaging
	Brighton and Sussex Medical School
	Brighton
	BN1 4RY
	Email: a.colasanti@bsms.ac.uk
	Dr Richard Laugharne
	Consultant Psychiatrist
	Cornwall Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
	Redruth
	IKIS 3QE

Dr Joseph Hayes Honorary Consultant Psychiatrist University College London Maple House London W1T 7NF Email: joseph.hayes@ucl.ac.uk **Professor Shanaya Rathod Consultant Psychiatrist** Southern Health NHS Foundation Trust **Research and Innovation Department** Moorgreen Hospital Southampton SO30 3JB Email: shanaya.rathod@southernhealth.nhs.uk Dr Suman Ahmed Consultant in Old Age Psychiatry Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust Alexander House Knaresborough North Yorkshire HG5 0UB Email: suman.ahmed@nhs.net

TRIAL SUMMARY

Title (acronym)	A ripiprazole/ s ertraline c ombination: clinical and cost- e ffectiveness in comparison with quetiapine for the treatment of bipolar d epression. An open label randomised controlled trial (ASCEnD).
Trial Design	Phase III, prospective, two-arm, open label, superiority, individually 1:1 randomised, controlled, pragmatic, parallel group, type A clinical trial.
Population	Adults (aged 18 years and over) with bipolar disorder who are experiencing a depressive episode.
Planned Sample Size	270 participants.
Treatment Duration	6 months.
Planned Trial Period	A total of 48 months, starting from 01/Sept/2022.
	Aripiprazole/sertraline combination versus quetiapine.
Investigational Medicinal Products	Medication to be taken orally. Exact formulation and dosages will be informed by clinical response and tolerability.
Primary Objective	To determine whether the improvement in depression will be greater in participants randomised to aripiprazole/sertraline combination than those randomised to quetiapine.
Primary Outcome Measure	The Quick Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology-Self Report (QIDS-SR) reported weekly, 12 to 16 weeks after randomisation in the two arms analysed as repeated measures, adjusted for baseline, using intention to treat principles.
Secondary Objectives and Outcome Measures	 To compare the impact of aripiprazole/sertraline combination vs quetiapine on: The trajectories of symptom change, measured via the QIDS-SR reported weekly from screening. Treatment satisfaction, measured via the Treatment Satisfaction Questionnaire for Medication (TSQM) at baseline and weeks 4, 14 and 24. Tolerability, measured via the Glasgow Antipsychotic Side-effect Scale (GASS) at baseline and weeks 4, 14 and 24. Pattern of medication adherence, measured via weekly questions in the study database regarding dosages of study medications taken on each of the preceding 7 days. This will be supported by use of the Medication Adherence Rating Scale (MARS) at baseline and weeks 4, 14 and 24. Pattern of non-randomised antidepressant/antipsychotic medication use, measured via analysis of concomitant medications weekly from screening. Change in anxiety symptoms, measured via the General Anxiety Disorder-7 (GAD-7) scale weekly from baseline. Change in manic symptoms and rates of relapse to a hypomanic or manic episode, measured via the Altman Self-Rating Mania Scale (ASRM) weekly from baseline. Psychosocial functioning, measured via the UCpop CAPability measure for Adults (ICECAP-A) and the Oxford CAPabilities Questionnaire-Mental Health (OxCAP-MH) at baseline and weeks 4, 14 and 24. Costs and incremental cost-effectiveness, based on the Health Economics Questionnaire (HEQ), measured at baseline and weeks 4, 14 and 24. Costs and incremental cost-effectiveness, based on the Health Economics Questionnaire (HEQ), measured via the ICEpop APability well-being and costs of caring measured via the EQ-5D-5L, ICECAP-A, OxCAP-MH and Caregiver Indirect and Informal Care Cost Assessment Questionnaire (CIIQ) at baseline and weeks 4, 14 and 24.
Exploratory REWARD	 Changes in reward and punishment sensitivity. from baseline to week 14 post initiation of
study	IMP, measured via the PILT and the BIS/BAS scales.

CONTENTS

CLINICA	L TRIAL PROTOCOL	1
RESEARC	CH REFERENCE NUMBERS	1
RESEARC	CH SPONSOR	1
RESEARC	CH FUNDER	1
PROTOC	COL APPROVAL SIGNATURE PAGE	2
PROTOC	COL ACCEPTANCE SIGNATURE PAGE	3
KEY TRIA	AL CONTACTS	4
TRIAL SU	UMMARY	10
GLOSSA	RY OF TERMS and ABBREVIATIONS	15
1.	BACKGROUND	18
1.1.	The size of the problem	18
1.2.	Current treatment	18
2.	RATIONALE	19
2.1.	Role of antidepressants	19
2.2.	Significance if superiority is shown	19
2.3.	Impact on practice	19
2.4.	Choice of aripiprazole	19
2.5.	Choice of sertraline	20
2.6.	Choice of comparator	20
3.	RISK ASSESSMENT	21
3.1.	Suicide	21
3.2.	Domestic Violence	22
3.3.	Pregnancy	23
3.3.1.	Antipsychotics	23
3.3.2.	Aripiprazole	24
3.3.3.	Quetiapine	24
3.3.4.	Sertraline	24
3.3.5.	Risks of untreated illness in pregnancy	25
3.3.6.		25
4.		20
4.1.	AllII.	20
4.2. 1 2	Primary objective	20
4.5. 1 1	Secondary objectives and outcomes	20
4.4. 1 E	Secondary objectives and outcomes	20
4.5. E	TRIAL DESIGN	20
5.	Schedule of Events	20
5.1. c		29
0.	Hard to reach groups	LC
0.1. 6 2	Darticipant Identification and initial contact	
0.2. 6 2 1	rai ucipanti identificationi and initial contact	
622	Identification via primary care	31
6.2.2.1.	Opportunistic approaches	31
6.2.2.2.	Record searches and IAPT	32

6.2.3.	Identification via self-referral	32
6.2.4.	Be Part of Research (BPoR)	32
6.2.5.	Research plus Me	32
6.2.6.	The Research plus Me Online Pre-Screening Assessment	33
7.	ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA	34
7.1.	Inclusion criteria	34
7.2.	Exclusion criteria	34
8.	ePRO, SCREENING AND CONSENT	34
8.1.	ePRO	34
8.2.	Screening and consent	35
8.2.1.	Consent	35
8.2.2.	Eligibility	36
8.2.3.	Screening and recruitment of informal carers	36
9.	BASELINE AND RANDOMISATION	37
9.1.	Baseline measures	37
9.2.	Randomisation	37
9.3.	Prescription of study medication	38
10.	TREATMENT AND FOLLOW UP	38
10.1.	Research measures	38
10.2.	Optional Exploratory Outcome Measures (REWARD Study)	39
10.2.1	PILT (REWARD Study)	39
10.2.1	BIS/BAS (REWARD Study)	40
10.3.	Clinical measures	40
11.	TRIAL COMPLETION	40
11. 11.1.	TRIAL COMPLETION End of trial participation	40 40
11. 11.1. 11.2.	TRIAL COMPLETION End of trial participation Withdrawal criteria	40 40 40
11. 11.1. 11.2. 11.3.	TRIAL COMPLETION End of trial participation Withdrawal criteria End of trial	40 40 40 40
 11. 11.1. 11.2. 11.3. 12. 	TRIAL COMPLETION End of trial participation Withdrawal criteria End of trial PARTICIPANT RECOMPENSE	40 40 40 40 41
 11. 11.1. 11.2. 11.3. 12. 13. 	TRIAL COMPLETION End of trial participation Withdrawal criteria End of trial PARTICIPANT RECOMPENSE TRIAL MEDICATION	40 40 40 40 41 41
 11. 11.1. 11.2. 11.3. 12. 13. 13.1. 	TRIAL COMPLETION End of trial participation Withdrawal criteria End of trial PARTICIPANT RECOMPENSE TRIAL MEDICATION Name and description of IMP	40 40 40 40 41 41
 11. 11.1. 11.2. 11.3. 12. 13. 13.1. 13.2. 	TRIAL COMPLETION End of trial participation Withdrawal criteria End of trial PARTICIPANT RECOMPENSE TRIAL MEDICATION Name and description of IMP Drug storage and supply	40 40 40 41 41 41
 11. 11.1. 11.2. 11.3. 12. 13. 13.1. 13.2. 13.3. 	TRIAL COMPLETION End of trial participation Withdrawal criteria End of trial PARTICIPANT RECOMPENSE TRIAL MEDICATION Name and description of IMP Drug storage and supply Preparation and labelling of IMP	40 40 40 41 41 41 41 41
 11. 11.1. 11.2. 11.3. 12. 13. 13.1. 13.2. 13.3. 13.4. 	TRIAL COMPLETION End of trial participation Withdrawal criteria End of trial PARTICIPANT RECOMPENSE TRIAL MEDICATION Name and description of IMP Drug storage and supply Preparation and labelling of IMP Dosage schedule and modifications	40 40 40 41 41 41 41 41 41
 11. 11.1. 11.2. 11.3. 12. 13. 13.1. 13.2. 13.3. 13.4. 13.5. 	TRIAL COMPLETION End of trial participation Withdrawal criteria End of trial PARTICIPANT RECOMPENSE TRIAL MEDICATION Name and description of IMP Drug storage and supply Preparation and labelling of IMP Dosage schedule and modifications Known drug reactions and interactions	40 40 40 41 41 41 41 41 41 41
 11. 11.1. 11.2. 11.3. 12. 13. 13.1. 13.2. 13.3. 13.4. 13.5. 13.6. 	TRIAL COMPLETION End of trial participation Withdrawal criteria End of trial PARTICIPANT RECOMPENSE TRIAL MEDICATION Name and description of IMP Drug storage and supply Preparation and labelling of IMP Dosage schedule and modifications Known drug reactions and interactions Concomitant medications	40 40 40 41 41 41 41 41 41 41 41
 11. 11.1. 11.2. 11.3. 12. 13. 13.1. 13.2. 13.3. 13.4. 13.5. 13.6. 13.7. 	TRIAL COMPLETION End of trial participation Withdrawal criteria End of trial PARTICIPANT RECOMPENSE TRIAL MEDICATION Name and description of IMP Drug storage and supply Preparation and labelling of IMP Dosage schedule and modifications Known drug reactions and interactions Concomitant medications Assessment of compliance	40 40 40 41 41 41 41 41 41 41 41 41 42 42
 11. 11.1. 11.2. 11.3. 12. 13. 13.1. 13.2. 13.3. 13.4. 13.5. 13.6. 13.7. 13.8. 	TRIAL COMPLETION End of trial participation Withdrawal criteria End of trial PARTICIPANT RECOMPENSE TRIAL MEDICATION Name and description of IMP Drug storage and supply Preparation and labelling of IMP Dosage schedule and modifications Known drug reactions and interactions Concomitant medications Assessment of compliance Discontinuation of IMP	40 40 40 41 41 41 41 41 41 41 41 42 42 42
 11. 11.1. 11.2. 11.3. 12. 13. 13.1. 13.2. 13.3. 13.4. 13.5. 13.6. 13.7. 13.8. 14. 	TRIAL COMPLETION End of trial participation Withdrawal criteria End of trial PARTICIPANT RECOMPENSE TRIAL MEDICATION Name and description of IMP Drug storage and supply Preparation and labelling of IMP Dosage schedule and modifications Known drug reactions and interactions Concomitant medications Assessment of compliance Discontinuation of IMP	40 40 40 41 41 41 41 41 41 41 41 42 42 42 42
 11. 11.1. 11.2. 11.3. 12. 13. 13.1. 13.2. 13.3. 13.4. 13.5. 13.6. 13.7. 13.8. 14. 14.1. 	TRIAL COMPLETION End of trial participation Withdrawal criteria End of trial PARTICIPANT RECOMPENSE TRIAL MEDICATION Name and description of IMP Drug storage and supply Preparation and labelling of IMP Dosage schedule and modifications Known drug reactions and interactions Concomitant medications Assessment of compliance Discontinuation of IMP INTERNAL PILOT Nested qualitative study	40 40 40 41 41 41 41 41 41 41 42 42 42 42 42
 11. 11.1. 11.2. 11.3. 12. 13. 13.1. 13.2. 13.3. 13.4. 13.5. 13.6. 13.7. 13.8. 14. 14.1. 14.1.1. 	TRIAL COMPLETION End of trial participation Withdrawal criteria End of trial PARTICIPANT RECOMPENSE TRIAL MEDICATION Name and description of IMP Drug storage and supply Preparation and labelling of IMP Dosage schedule and modifications Known drug reactions and interactions Concomitant medications Assessment of compliance Discontinuation of IMP INTERNAL PILOT Nested qualitative study	40 40 40 41 41 41 41 41 41 41 41 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42
 11. 11.1. 11.2. 11.3. 12. 13. 13.1. 13.2. 13.3. 13.4. 13.5. 13.6. 13.7. 13.8. 14. 14.1. 14.1.1. 14.1.2. 	TRIAL COMPLETION End of trial participation Withdrawal criteria End of trial PARTICIPANT RECOMPENSE TRIAL MEDICATION Name and description of IMP Drug storage and supply Preparation and labelling of IMP Dosage schedule and modifications Known drug reactions and interactions Concomitant medications Assessment of compliance Discontinuation of IMP INTERNAL PILOT Nested qualitative study Participant recruitment to qualitative study	40 40 40 41 41 41 41 41 41 41 42
 11. 11.1. 11.2. 11.3. 12. 13. 13.1. 13.2. 13.3. 13.4. 13.5. 13.6. 13.7. 13.8. 14.1. 14.1.1. 14.1.2. 14.1.3. 	TRIAL COMPLETION End of trial participation Withdrawal criteria End of trial PARTICIPANT RECOMPENSE TRIAL MEDICATION Name and description of IMP Drug storage and supply Preparation and labelling of IMP Dosage schedule and modifications Known drug reactions and interactions Concomitant medications Assessment of compliance Discontinuation of IMP INTERNAL PILOT Nested qualitative study Participant recruitment to qualitative study Qualitative study procedures and data protection	40 40 40 41 41 41 41 41 41 41 42 43 44
 11. 11.1. 11.2. 11.3. 12. 13. 13.1. 13.2. 13.3. 13.4. 13.5. 13.6. 13.7. 13.8. 14.1. 14.1.1. 14.1.2. 14.1.3. 14.1.4. 	TRIAL COMPLETION End of trial participation Withdrawal criteria End of trial PARTICIPANT RECOMPENSE TRIAL MEDICATION Name and description of IMP Drug storage and supply Preparation and labelling of IMP Dosage schedule and modifications Known drug reactions and interactions Concomitant medications Assessment of compliance Discontinuation of IMP INTERNAL PILOT Nested qualitative study Staff recruitment to qualitative study Staff recruitment to qualitative study Qualitative study procedures and data protection Qualitative study topic guide	40 40 40 41 41 41 41 41 41 41 42
 11. 11.1. 11.2. 11.3. 12. 13. 13.1. 13.2. 13.3. 13.4. 13.5. 13.6. 13.7. 13.8. 14.1. 14.1.1. 14.1.2. 14.1.3. 14.1.4. 14.1.5. 	TRIAL COMPLETION End of trial participation Withdrawal criteria End of trial PARTICIPANT RECOMPENSE TRIAL MEDICATION Name and description of IMP Drug storage and supply Preparation and labelling of IMP Dosage schedule and modifications Known drug reactions and interactions. Concomitant medications. Assessment of compliance Discontinuation of IMP INTERNAL PILOT Nested qualitative study. Participant recruitment to qualitative study Staff recruitment to qualitative study Qualitative study procedures and data protection Qualitative study topic guide Qualitative study analysis	40 40 40 41 41 41 41 41 41 41 42 44 41 42 43 43 43 43 43 43 43 43 43 43 43 43 44
 11. 11.1. 11.2. 11.3. 12. 13. 13.1. 13.2. 13.3. 13.4. 13.5. 13.6. 13.7. 13.8. 14.1. 14.1.1. 14.1.2. 14.1.3. 14.1.4. 14.1.5. 14.2. 	TRIAL COMPLETION End of trial participation Withdrawal criteria End of trial PARTICIPANT RECOMPENSE TRIAL MEDICATION Name and description of IMP Drug storage and supply Preparation and labelling of IMP Dosage schedule and modifications Known drug reactions and interactions Concomitant medications Assessment of compliance Discontinuation of IMP INTERNAL PILOT Nested qualitative study Staff recruitment to qualitative study Staff recruitment to qualitative study Qualitative study procedures and data protection Qualitative study rong guide Qualitative study analysis Evaluation of study progress	40 40 40 41 41 41 41 41 41 41 42 43 44 44

15.	PHARMACOVIGILANCE	45
15.1.	Definitions	45
15.2.	Recording and reporting AEs and SAEs	46
15.3.	Recording and reporting SUSARs	46
16.	ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES	47
16.1.	Central RAs	47
16.2.	Site team	48
16.3.	Clinical team	49
16.4.	National clinical support team	49
16.5.	Chief Investigator	49
16.6.	Sponsor	49
16.7.	Trial Oversight Committees	49
16.8.	Trial Management Group	50
16.9.	Clinical Trials Unit	50
16.10.	Notification of deaths	50
16.11.	Pregnancy reporting	50
16.12.	Overdose	51
16.13.	Reporting Urgent Safety Measures	51
16.14.	Annual Safety Reports	51
17.	STATISTICAL CONSIDERATIONS	51
17.1.	Analysis population	51
17.2.	Analysis overview	51
17.3.	Analysis of the primary outcome	51
17.3.1.	Sensitivity analyses on the primary outcome	52
17.4.	Primary outcome period	52
17.5.	Power	52
17.6.	Analysis of secondary outcomes	52
17.7.	Analysis of Exploratory outcomes (REWARD Study)	52
17.8.	Health economic analysis	53
17.9.	Equity analysis	53
17.10.	Interim analyses	53
18.	DATA HANDLING	53
18.1.	Data collection tools	53
18.2.	Data handling and record keeping	54
18.3.	Access to data	54
18.4.	Archiving	55
18.5.	Data handling within the nested qualitative study	55
19.	MONITORING, AUDIT AND INSPECTION	55
20.	REGULATORY CONSIDERATIONS	56
20.1.	REC review and reports	56
20.2.	Peer review	56
20.3.	Public and patient involvement	56
20.4.	Regulatory compliance	57
20.5.	Protocol compliance	57
20.6.	Notification of serious breaches	57

20.7.	Data protection	57
20.8.	Indemnity	57
20.9.	Amendments	58
20.10.	Final trial dataset	58
21.	DISSEMINATION POLICY	58
22.	REFERENCES	60
23.	APPENDICES	71
23. 23.1.	APPENDICES Appendix 1 – Trial medication guidance	71
23. 23.1. 23.2.	APPENDICES Appendix 1 – Trial medication guidance Appendix 2 – Research+Me	71 71 72
23. 23.1. 23.2. 23.3.	APPENDICES Appendix 1 – Trial medication guidance Appendix 2 – Research+Me Appendix 3 - Safety reporting diagram	71 71 72 74
23. 23.1. 23.2. 23.3. 23.4.	APPENDICES Appendix 1 – Trial medication guidance Appendix 2 – Research+Me Appendix 3 - Safety reporting diagram Appendix 4 – Amendment history	71 71 72 74 75

Abbreviation	Definition								
AE	Adverse Event								
AR	Adverse Reaction								
Antidepressants	Used to cover drugs listed in the BNF (British National Formulary) as antidepressant drugs (1). It includes selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (such as sertraline), tricyclic antidepressants, monoamine oxidase inhibitors, vortioxetine and tryptophan.								
Antipsychotics	Used to cover drugs listed in the BNF as antipsychotic drugs (1). It includes quetiapine and aripiprazole.								
ASR	Annual Safety Report								
ASRM	Altman Self-Rating Mania Scale								
ВАР	British Association for Psychopharmacology								
BAS/BIS	Behavioural Approach System / Behavioural Inhibition System								
Bipolar depression	A depressive episode in someone with bipolar disorder.								
BNF	British National Formulary								
BPoR	Be Part of Research								
СА	Competent Authority								
САРА	Corrective and Preventative Action								
Concomitant medication	Any prescribed medication other than the IMP								
CI	Chief Investigator								
CIIQ	Caregiver Indirect and Informal Care Cost Assessment								
CWLY	Capability-Weighted Life Years								
CNTW	Cumbria, Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust								
CPRD	Clinical Practice Research Datalink								
cRA	Central Research Assistant								
CRN	Clinical Research Network								
CSO	Clinical Studies Officer								
DMC	Data Monitoring Committee								
DoB	Date of Birth								
DSM-5-TR	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual-5-Text Revision								
ECG	Electrocardiogram								
eCRF	Electronic Case Report Form								
ePRO	Electronic Patient Reported Outcomes								
EQ-5D-5L	The 5 Dimension 5 Level version of the standardised health-related quality of life measure developed by EuroQol.								
GAD-7	General Anxiety Disorder-7 scale								
GASS	Glasgow Antipsychotic Side-effect Scale								

GLOSSARY OF TERMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

GCP	Good Clinical Practice
GP	General Practitioner
HEQ	Health Economics Questionnaire
HRA	Health Research Authority
НТА	Health Technology Assessment
IAPT	Improving Access to Psychological Therapies
ICECAP-A	ICEpop CAPability measure for Adults
IMP	Investigative Medicinal Product
ISF	Investigator Site File
ITT	Intention To Treat
LEAP	Lived Experience Advisory Panel
PILT	Probabilistic Instrumental Learning Task
MARS	Medication Adherence Report Scale
MDQ	Manic Depression Questionnaire
MedDRA	Medical Dictionary for Regulatory Activities
MHRA	Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency
NCTU	Newcastle Clinical Trials Unit
NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
NIHR	National Institute for Health and Care Research
OxCAP-MH	Oxford CAPabilities Questionnaire-Mental Health
PHQ-9	Patient Health Questionnaire-version 9
PCN	Primary Care Networks
PI	Principal Investigator
PIS	Participant information sheet
QA	Quality Assurance
QALY	Quality Adjusted Life Years
QIDS-SR	Quick Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology–Self Report
REC	Research Ethics Committee
RSI	Reference Safety Information
R&D	Research and Development
R+Me	Research + Me
SAE	Serious Adverse Event
SAP	Statistical Analysis Plan
SAR	Serious Adverse Reaction
SCID-5-RV	Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-5-TR Disorders-Research Version
SmPC	Summary of Product Characteristics
SOP	Standard Operating Procedure
SUSAR	Suspected Unexpected Serious Adverse Reaction
TMG	Trial Management Group

TSC Trial Steering Committee						
TSQM	Treatment Satisfaction Questionnaire for Medication					
UKCRC UK Clinical Research Collaboration						
USM	Urgent Safety Measure					
WOCBP	Women of Childbearing Potential					
WSAS	Work and Social Adjustment Scale					

1. BACKGROUND

1.1. The size of the problem

Bipolar disorder is diagnosed on the basis of a current or previous episode of mania or hypomania. It is usually a lifelong relapsing and recurring illness (2). It has a prevalence of at least 1.4% (2, 3), is associated with reduced life expectancy of 8 to 12 years (4) and has estimated UK costs of £6.43B annually, with 68% of the total costs attributed to lost productivity and informal care and 31% to health care costs (5). People with bipolar disorder are symptomatic around half of the time, the vast majority of which is depression (6-9). Depressive episodes in bipolar disorder ("bipolar depression") are often intransigent with 50% of people remaining depressed at six months (10). Depressive episodes exert a greater burden on caregivers, quality of life, education, occupation, economic costs and suicide than manic episodes (9, 11-17). Wider social and environmental determinants of poor health impact onset, prevalence and severity of bipolar disorder (18).

1.2. Current treatment

Depression in bipolar disorder responds differently to depression in people who have never had an episode of mania or hypomania. For instance, in contrast to major depressive disorder, there is limited evidence of effectiveness of psychological interventions for bipolar depression (19). With regards to medication for bipolar depression, National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) recommends just quetiapine, olanzapine (with or without fluoxetine) and lamotrigine (19). This obviously differs from major depressive disorder recommendations which include a range of antidepressants.

There is extremely limited evidence regarding the effectiveness of antidepressants in bipolar disorder. A few small studies have shown some evidence of efficacy for antidepressant monotherapy (20-22), however, the largest such trial (with paroxetine) (23) and overall meta-analyses of both monotherapy and combinations of antidepressants with mood stabilisers, such as lithium (24), suggests that antidepressants are ineffective. Moreover, antidepressant monotherapy carries possible risks in bipolar disorder including destabilisation of mood (25), chronic dysphoria (26) and switch to mania (27-35). The only evidenced (36, 37) and recommended (19, 38-44) use of antidepressants for bipolar disorder is when fluoxetine is combined with the antipsychotic, olanzapine. This combination has the largest effect size of any bipolar depression treatment (19). Despite this, 40% of bipolar patients in routine clinical care are prescribed an antidepressant, but only vary rarely is this an olanzapine/fluoxetine combination (less than 1%) (45).

This mismatch between the evidence base and practice relates to the limited tolerability and realworld effectiveness of the evidenced treatments (37, 46-51). Olanzapine and quetiapine commonly cause significant weight gain and sedation (36, 52) contributing to non-concordance, diabetes and obstructive sleep apnoea. Quetiapine (53) and to a lesser extent olanzapine (54) affect cardiac repolarisation which is reflected on the electrocardiogram (ECG) as heart rate corrected QT (QTc) prolongation. QTc prolongation increases the risk of the potentially fatal Torsades de Pointes. Quetiapine also commonly causes symptomatic orthostatic hypotension, such as dizziness on standing (55). The other NICE recommended drug treatment option, lamotrigine, is of only moderate efficacy (Number Needed to Treat = 11-13) (56, 57) and requires slow dose titration leading to delayed response. This evidence-practice gap also illustrates the clinical uncertainty about the use of antidepressants in bipolar depression (58, 59) and has been highlighted as an area needing further research by both NICE and the James Lind Alliance (60). Aside from olanzapine/fluoxetine combination, other antipsychotic/antidepressant combinations have not been tested in adequately powered trials in bipolar depression. It is therefore unknown whether there is something unique about the specific combination of olanzapine with fluoxetine or whether alternative antidepressants and antipsychotics might also be effective when combined.

2. RATIONALE

2.1. Role of antidepressants

NICE guideline CG 185 has identified that the role of traditional antidepressants is the most important unanswered question in the treatment of bipolar depression. This study will help to address this and advance understanding of "core business" in the management of bipolar disorder. The study will show whether aripiprazole/sertraline combination offers superior clinical and cost effectiveness compared with current standard treatment.

2.2. Significance if superiority is shown

If superiority is shown, this combination has the potential to make a significant difference to practice and to improve the quality of life for patients with bipolar disorder and consequently for their informal carers such as family and friends. Aripiprazole and sertraline's safety, tolerability and side effect profiles are such that initiation in primary care would be appropriate (61, 62). This is important because whilst current formulary guidance requires that all existing NICE recommended bipolar depression treatments across most of the UK are started only after secondary care recommendation, a third of patients with bipolar disorder are only seen in primary care (63, 64). In addition, discontinuities between primary and secondary care include significant delays in the provision of secondary care input (65-67). A drug regime that General Practitioners (GPs) could initiate would allow effective treatment whilst waiting for secondary care response or for those patients who decline or do not need secondary care involvement, thereby reducing the impact of the primary/secondary care barrier and facilitating improved involvement, detection and management across the Integrated Care System (68).

Conversely, if quetiapine is shown to be superior to aripiprazole/sertraline combination, this would be further evidence in support of current guidance to avoid using antidepressants in bipolar disorder given their potential disadvantages (27-35) and would challenge their current high rate of usage (45).

2.3. Impact on practice

An increase in the number and quality of effective treatment options with better side effect profiles is desperately needed, given the limitations of the currently recommended treatments and the significant morbidity and mortality of bipolar disorder.

2.4. Choice of aripiprazole

Aripiprazole's ability to augment an antidepressant for the treatment of depression is suggested by its unique pharmacology. It enhances dopamine function, normalising a demonstrated deficit (69) thereby facilitating reward activation (70, 71). It increases 5-HT neuronal firing rate via 5-HT_{1A} agonism (72, 73) and noradrenalin release via 5-HT_{2A} antagonism (74, 75).

In major depressive disorder, atypical antipsychotics as a class augment antidepressants (49-51, 76-80). For aripiprazole specifically there have been four large studies, with a dose range of 2 to 20 mg and mean of between 7.75 and 11.2 mg (78-81), and a fifth study with two active treatment arms – a fixed dose of 3 mg and a flexible dose of 3 to 15 mg (mean 9.8 mg) (82). All five, including both the fixed and flexible dose arms in the latter study, showed a clinically and statistically significant difference on the primary outcome measure (the Montgomery-Asberg Depression Rating Scale) (83) of around 3 to 4 points in favour of aripiprazole.

In bipolar depression, the augmenting potential of atypical antipsychotics is supported by a large case note review (84), an observational study (85) and by the olanzapine/fluoxetine randomised control trials (36, 37). For aripiprazole specifically, there have been non-controlled studies with relatively high starting doses (86-90) and small chart reviews (91-93) which suggest augmentation efficacy in bipolar depression but reveal high rates of akathisia (a side effect which is characterised by subjective and objective restlessness). A later and larger chart review examining patients prescribed smaller doses (5 mg or less) of aripiprazole augmentation of antidepressants showed promising results and a relative absence of side effects (94). In the one small pilot randomised controlled trial of aripiprazole augmentation of antidepression (n=23) there was a clinically (95), but not statistically (the study was not adequately powered), significant 4 point advantage of aripiprazole over placebo on the primary outcome measure (96, 97). Aripiprazole's acute antimanic efficacy, including at a dose of 10 mg (98, 99) is predicted to prevent switch to mania.

The tolerability of aripiprazole compared with the existing drugs for bipolar depression can be estimated using the short-term (\leq 12 week) unipolar augmentation data. In the aripiprazole arm of the pivotal studies, average drop out because of adverse effects was 4.1% (78-80, 82) compared with 11.6% (49-51) for quetiapine (mostly sedation and somnolence) and 11.2% (46-48) for olanzapine. Aripiprazole, in contrast to quetiapine and olanzapine, does not increase QTc (100) giving a better cardiac safety profile (101). It also has a lower risk of causing hyperprolactinaemia than the other second-generation antipsychotics (such as quetiapine and olanzapine) and thereby a reduced risk of amenorrhea, galactorrhoea, hirsutism, gynaecomastia, impotence, loss of libido, infertility, osteoporosis and hip fracture (102).

2.5. Choice of sertraline

Sertraline has been chosen as the antidepressant to combine with aripiprazole since it has a good safety profile and tolerability in both bipolar (20) and unipolar (103) depression populations, a favourable pharmacokinetic profile, only limited interactions with most psychotropics and it does not carry a risk of cardiac arrhythmias (104-107).

2.6. Choice of comparator

Quetiapine is the preferred comparator because it has the most robust evidence-base (23, 108-110). Quetiapine is available both in an immediate release (IR) and an extended release (XL) formulation. Both are licenced for the treatment of bipolar depression and whilst the XL form has a longer half-life, in bipolar depression, Summary of Product Characteristics (SmPC) instructions for both are to use a once daily dose (55). The IR form is approximately 25 times cheaper (111) and prescribed six times more frequently in primary care than the XL form (45). Relative tolerability of IR versus XL differs between individuals. As per LQD (112), choice between IR and XL will remain a clinical decision in participants randomised to quetiapine.

3. RISK ASSESSMENT

This trial is categorised as:

Type A = no higher than the risk of standard clinical care

For the purposes of this trial, quetiapine, sertraline and aripiprazole are classed as Investigative Medicinal Products (IMPs). All IMPs have marketing authorisation and extensive safety data:

- Sertraline has Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) marketing authorisation for depressive illness, obsessive-compulsive disorder, panic disorder, post-traumatic stress disorder, and social anxiety disorder.
- Aripiprazole (oral) has MHRA marketing authorisation for schizophrenia and for treatment and recurrence prevention of mania.
- Quetiapine has MHRA marketing authorisation for schizophrenia, for the treatment and prevention of mania and depression in bipolar disorder and for adjunctive treatment of major depression.

All IMPs are generally well-tolerated, but potential participants will be informed of anticipated side effects and risks by their clinician and via the study participant information sheet (PIS). Clinicians are expected to make a collaborative decision with their patient with regards to the ongoing use of any of the IMPs where side effects are experienced (see section 13.4). The IMPs carry a risk of medication misuse and overdose. Clinicians will be alerted to cases of overdose (see section 16.12) and are encouraged to consult the SmPCs for the IMPs in these cases.

All trial outcomes will be measured via patient-completed or informal carer-completed online questionnaires. The central Research Assistants (cRAs) will support participants in the completion of questionnaires, including offering options to complete assessments via telephone or videoconference if participants experience difficulties in accessing or using the online system (see section 16.1).

3.1. Suicide

The eligible population for this study is at increased risk of suicide compared with the general population. In the ASCEnD study, the risk is managed by both primary and secondary care clinical teams. There is evidence that the IMPs reduce suicidality in the study population (113) and participation in the study, confers additional risk mitigation via the involvement of research personnel and the research process. Within the study, participants will complete a QIDS-SR (Quick Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology – Self-Report), weekly. Question 12 relates specifically to suicidality, and an answer of 3 '*I think of suicide or death several times a day in some detail, or I have made specific plans for suicide or have actually tried to take my life*' will trigger an automatic email alert from the study database to the ASCEnD NCTU inbox, the cRAs and the site team, including the site PI. The alert will not be triggered at Baseline because the questionnaire is reviewed by someone at site before being inputted into the database, so the alert will be at follow-up weeks 1 to 24.

The purpose of email alerts is to inform the site team that the participant has responded '3' to item 12. This is not necessarily a call to action; rather, site teams will use this information to exercise their clinical responsibility for the participant and respond to the alert as they deem clinically appropriate.

In response to the alert and/or if suicidal ideations are disclosed by the participant in any other manner, cRAs will screen the participant for new or escalating suicidal ideations during the next study phone call. Study calls are scheduled to occur weekly. As per the cRA working instructions, if new or escalating risk is established, cRAs will confirm whether the participant has already discussed this with

the site team or the care team. If the event has been discussed, cRAs will record this response and continue with the remainder of the study activities. If the event has not been discussed, cRAs will gather more information and relay this to the responsible clinician and healthcare professionals listed in the participant's Contacts Form, which includes the participant's site study team. cRAs have the option of emailing or telephoning healthcare professionals listed on participant Contacts Forms, depending on the more appropriate mode of communication in these instances. cRAs also have the flexibility to contact site teams and care teams if they feel any concern about the participant, irrespective of whether disclosures meet the parameters outlined above. cRAs will maintain documentation to confirm that communication with site has taken place in accordance with the protocol. If cRAs are concerned about the immediate safety of the participant, where possible they should stay on the phone and ring 999 from another line. On rare occasions it may also be necessary to inform next of kin of cause for concern and participants would be informed of this break of confidentiality. cRAs will receive training in dealing with emergency situations, will have regular supervision from a clinician, and can contact their clinical supervisor or the trial Cl in case of concern.

To maintain the integrity of this communication plan, cRAs are required to maintain up to date records of the contact details of all site PIs and sites are required to send up-to-date contact details and/or inform cRAs of any changes related to healthcare professionals associated with the participant.

Prior to qualitative interviews, the qualitative researcher will ask cRAs if the participant has already been flagged as at risk for suicidal ideation, so that the qualitative researcher is aware of any risk prior to the qualitative interview.

If participants disclose risk of self-harm or suicide during a qualitative interview, a separate risk protocol will be in place which mirrors the above escalation procedure; the responsible clinician and healthcare professionals listed in the participant's Contacts Form, which includes the participant's site study team (and GP if applicable) will be notified and are then responsible for ensuring a plan for the ongoing care. The researcher may also contact the qualitative study lead, Professor Chew-Graham, (CCG) who is a GP (with clinical experience managing people who are distressed) and clinical academic. If the researcher feels it is appropriate or necessary, CCG will speak to the study participant whilst the researcher is still with the study participant or soon after.

3.2. Domestic Violence

Participants will complete the OxCAP questionnaire at Baseline, Follow-up weeks 4, 14 and 24. Question 7 reads: Please indicate how likely you believe it to be that you will be assaulted in the future (including sexual and domestic assault). The possible responses are: *Very likely, Fairly likely, Neither likely nor unlikely, Fairly unlikely, and Very unlikely.*

An email alert is set up to be triggered by the responses *Very likely* and *Fairly likely*, which will be sent from the database system to the ASCEnD NCTU inbox, the cRAs, and the site team, including the site PI. The alert will not be triggered at Baseline because the questionnaire is reviewed by someone at site before being input into the database, so the alert would only be at follow-up weeks 4, 14 and 24.

The purpose of email alerts is to inform the site team that the participant has responded 'Very likely' or 'Fairly likely' to item 7. This is not necessarily a call to action; rather, site teams will use this information to exercise their clinical responsibility for the participant and respond to the alert as they deem clinically appropriate.

In response to the alert and/or if safeguarding concerns are disclosed by the participant in any other manner, cRAs will confirm whether the participant has already discussed this with the site team or the care team. If the event has been discussed, cRAs will record this response and continue with the remainder of the study activities. If the event has not been discussed, cRAs will gather more information and relay this to the responsible clinician and healthcare professionals listed in the participant's Contacts Form, which includes the participant's site study team. cRAs have the option of emailing or telephoning healthcare professionals listed on participant Contacts Forms, depending on the more appropriate mode of communication in these instances. cRAs also have the flexibility to contact site teams and care teams if they feel any concern about the participant, irrespective of whether disclosures meet the parameters outlined above. cRAs will maintain documentation to confirm that communication with site has taken place in accordance with the protocol. If cRAs are concerned about the immediate safety of the participant, where possible they should stay on the phone and ring 999 from another line. cRAs will receive training in dealing with emergency situations, will have regular supervision from a clinician, and can contact their clinical supervisor or the trial Cl in case of concern.

To maintain the integrity of this communication plan, cRAs are required to maintain up to date records of the contact details of all site PIs and sites are required to send up-to-date contact details and/or inform cRAs of any changes related to healthcare professionals associated with the participant.

Prior to qualitative interviews, the qualitative researcher will ask cRAs if the participant has already been flagged as at risk for domestic violence, so that the qualitative researcher is aware of any risk prior to the qualitative interview.

If participants disclose risk of domestic violence during a qualitative interview, a separate risk protocol will be in place which mirrors the above escalation procedure; the responsible clinician and healthcare professionals listed in the participant's Contacts Form, which includes the participant's site study team (and GP if applicable) will be notified and are responsible for ensuring a plan for the ongoing care.

3.3. Pregnancy

Information pertaining to reproductive safety of trial medication comes from the register-based cohort studies (114-116). Notable amongst them is the Massachusetts General Hospital National Pregnancy Registry (117), and the Medicaid registry (118). Reproductive risks associated with medication have been reviewed and published as BAP guidance (119). Risk of events is reported as odds ratios which may – or may not- be adjusted for confounding variables, including smoking, substance use and psychiatric diagnosis.

3.3.1. Antipsychotics

Studies that have used a comparison group of women with psychiatric illness but unexposed to antipsychotics (114-116, 120) or studies that adequately controlled for confounding variables (121), report few associations between antipsychotics and adverse maternal or infant outcomes. Existing evidence suggests that antipsychotics are not major teratogens (120, 122, 123). There is an association with cardiac defects (124) but this may be attributable to detection bias (119) and, after adjustment, the data suggests that the risk of cardiac malformation is not meaningfully increased for women exposed to atypical antipsychotics (n= 9258) (118).

Withdrawal symptoms have been described in neonates following late pregnancy exposure to antipsychotic medication, however, studies that adequately controlled for confounding did not find a specific association between antipsychotic exposure and poor neonatal adaptation (116, 119, 121).

3.3.2. Aripiprazole

The aripiprazole SmPC section 4.6 regarding the use of drug during pregnancy states that aripiprazole should not be used in pregnancy unless the expected benefit clearly justifies the potential risk to the foetus.

The Massachusetts register had (April 2020) data on 848 women who had taken aripiprazole in pregnancy and delivered infants. The risk of major malformations in the 158 women who took aripiprazole in the first trimester was 4.29%. This compares with 1.99% in the unexposed group. After adjustment for confounding variables, the risk of major malformations after first trimester exposure to aripiprazole was not significant compared to controls (odds ratio = 1.35 (95% confidence interval= 0.43, 4.20)(125). The US Medicaid sample, including 1756 first trimester exposures to aripiprazole showed a non-significant adjusted relative risk of 0.95 (95%CI= 0.76 to 1.19) for congenital malformations(118). Aripiprazole is not a major teratogen. The available data does not support a strong association between foetal exposure to atypical antipsychotics and an increase in the rates of major malformations (118, 119, 125).

3.3.3. Quetiapine

The quetiapine SmPC section 4.6 regarding the use of drug during pregnancy states that Quetiapine should only be used during pregnancy if the benefits justify the potential risks.

There is a concern that antipsychotics, such as quetiapine, that are associated with metabolic disturbance may increase the risk of gestational diabetes mellitus, obesity and gestational hypertension, conditions which are in turn associated with adverse maternal and neonatal outcomes such as foetal growth abnormalities, preterm birth and congenital malformations (119).

The Massachusetts register (n= 264 for quetiapine) reports an adjusted odds ratio comparing quetiapine with controls for congenital malformation was 1.04 (95%CI=0.38-2.85) (126). The US Medicaid sample consists of over 4,000 first trimester exposure to quetiapine with an adjusted relative risk for congenital malformation of 1.01 (95% CI =0.88 to 1.17) (118). Quetiapine is not a major teratogen (126), it does not meaningfully increase the risk for congenital malformations overall or cardiac malformations in particular (118, 119)

Maternal quetiapine produces doses in milk that are less than 1% of the maternal weight-adjusted dosage and a systematic reviews of mood stabilisers and second-generation antipsychotics concluded that quetiapine is be the first-choice agent during breastfeeding (127).

3.3.4. Sertraline

Sertraline's SmPC section 4.6 regarding the use of drug during pregnancy states that Sertraline is not recommended in pregnancy, unless the clinical condition of the woman is such that the benefit of the treatment is expected to outweigh the potential risk.

There are no data suggesting antidepressants impact on the ability of women to conceive (119). Drugs that block serotonin uptake, such as many antidepressants, are associated with increased risks of bleeding (128). There have been reports of particularly third trimester exposure to antidepressants being associated with an increased risk of postpartum haemorrhage (129, 130).

Large studies which adjust for confounding factors have not found an increased risk of teratogenesis or cardiac malformations with antidepressants (131, 132), There is a numerically small and statistically not significant adjusted increased risk of Persistent Pulmonary Hypertension of the Newborn in women who took antidepressants in pregnancy(133).

A neonatal behavioural syndrome following in utero exposure to antidepressants, which includes irritability, crying, jitteriness, vomiting, shivering, increased tone, and eating and sleeping difficulties has been convincingly reported (119). Data on long-term effects of antidepressant exposure in utero are sparse and do not convincingly show any long-term impact (119).

Sertraline is the preferred antidepressant for women who are breast feeding (119), levels in breast milk are low (134) and serum levels in babies are usually undetectable (135) (136).

3.3.5. Risks of untreated illness in pregnancy

Pregnancy is not protective against bipolar disorder or other mental illness(119). Very high rates of relapse of depression (70%) have been found in studies of women with histories of recurrent depression (137, 138). This finding wasn't replicated in a study recruiting from obstetric settings, likely to include women with milder forms of depression (139).

Maternal antenatal depression and anxiety symptoms are reported to be associated with an increased risk of neurodevelopmental and psychopathological consequences for the offspring spanning into childhood and adolescence(140). These include depression, emotional problems, symptoms of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and conduct disorder, impaired cognitive function and schizophrenia (141, 142). Antenatal depression also increases the risk of the offspring being exposed to maltreatment in childhood, by approximately four-fold (143). A large cohort study found that the behavioural problems in children aged 7 born to women with prenatal depression wasn't seen in the children whose mothers took antidepressants in pregnancy (144). Women with bipolar disorder who are medication-free during pregnancy have a significantly higher risk of postpartum relapse (approximately 65% vs 25%) than those who were taking prophylactic medication (145).

3.3.6. Relevant definitions

For the purposes of this trial a woman is considered of child-bearing potential (WOCBP) i.e. fertile, following menarche and until becoming post-menopausal unless permanently sterile. Permanent sterilisation methods include hysterectomy, bilateral salpingectomy and bilateral oophorectomy. A postmenopausal state is defined as no menses for 12 months without an alternative medical cause.

Effective methods of contraception are combined (oestrogen and progestogen containing) hormonal contraception associated with inhibition of ovulation (oral, intravaginal, transdermal), progestogenonly hormonal contraception associated with inhibition of ovulation (oral, injectable, implantable), intrauterine device (IUD), intrauterine hormone-releasing system (IUS), bilateral tubal occlusion, a vasectomised partner, sexual abstinence (defined as refraining from heterosexual intercourse during the entire period of risk associated with the study treatments).

A highly sensitive urine test is defined as a urine beta-HCG pregnancy tests conducted in line with local clinical policies, either by sending the urine sample to the local clinical laboratory or by a suitably trained individual using a clinically approved pregnancy test strip.

4. OBJECTIVES AND OUTCOME MEASURES

4.1. Aim

To determine the clinical and cost effectiveness of aripiprazole/sertraline combination in the treatment of depressive episodes in people with bipolar disorder.

4.2. Primary objective

To determine whether the improvement in depression will be greater in participants randomised to aripiprazole/sertraline combination than those randomised to quetiapine.

4.3. Primary outcome

The QIDS-SR reported weekly 12 to 16 weeks after randomisation in the two arms. Randomisation is measured as day 0 for follow up for the main trial.

4.4. Secondary objectives and outcomes

Trial secondary objectives will compare the impact of aripiprazole/sertraline combination versus quetiapine on the endpoints indicated in the table below over a 24-week follow up period:

Endpoint	Measure
The trajectories of symptom change	QIDS-SR reported weekly from screening.
Treatment satisfaction	TSQM at baseline and weeks 4, 14 and 24.
Tolerability	GASS at baseline and weeks 4, 14 and 24.
Pattern of medication adherence	Weekly questions in the study database regarding dosages of study medications taken on each of the preceding 7 days. This will be supported by use of the MARS at baseline and weeks 4, 14 and 24.
Pattern of non-randomised antidepressant/antipsychotic medication use.	Analysis of concomitant medications weekly from screening.
Change in anxiety symptoms	GAD-7 scale reported weekly from baseline.
Change in manic symptoms and rates of relapse to a hypomanic or manic episode.	ASRM reported weekly from baseline.
Psychosocial functioning	WSAS at baseline and weeks 4, 14 and 24.
Health-related quality of life	EQ-5D-5L questionnaire weekly from baseline.
Capability well-being	ICECAP-A and OxCAP-MH at baseline and weeks 4, 14 and 24.
Costs and incremental cost-effectiveness	HEQ at baseline and weeks 4, 14 and 24.
Informal carers' health-related quality of life, capability well-being and costs of caring	EQ-5D-5L, ICECAP-A, OxCAP-MH and CIIQ at baseline and weeks 4, 14 and 24.

4.5. Exploratory Objective and Outcome Measure (Optional REWARD Study)

Changes in reward and punishment sensitivity, from baseline (prior to IMP initiation) to week 14 post initiation of IMP, measured via the PILT and the behavioural inhibition (or avoidance) system (BIS) and behavioural approach system (BAS) scales.

Endpoint			Measure*
Reward sensitivity	and	punishment	PILT and BIS/BAS prior to IMP initiation (baseline), at IMP-weeks 3-4 (first follow-up), and at IMP-weeks 13-14 (second follow-up).

* 1st exploratory (3-4 week) and 2nd exploratory (13-14 week) follow up measured from the IMP start date and not from the date of randomisation.

Choice accuracy in win trials of the PILT and the total score on the BAS Reward Responsiveness subscale of the BIS/BAS will provide measures of reward sensitivity. Choice accuracy in loss trials of the PILT and the total score on the BIS subscale of the BIS/BAS will provide measures of punishment sensitivity.

5. TRIAL DESIGN

The ASCEnD trial is a prospective, two-arm, open label, superiority, individually 1:1 randomised, controlled, pragmatic, parallel group, type A open label clinical trial. It aims to determine whether a sertraline/aripiprazole medication combination is an effective treatment for bipolar depression.

The trial will be carried out at UK sites including primary, secondary and tertiary care mental health services. A target of 270 patients will be randomised (1:1 ratio) to receive either sertraline/aripiprazole combination or quetiapine. The effectiveness of sertraline/aripiprazole combination in reducing depressive symptoms will be assessed 12-16 weeks after randomisation. Patients and their main informal carer will continue to be followed up for 24 weeks. Over this period, the cost effectiveness and the effect of sertraline/aripiprazole combination on symptoms of depression, anxiety and mania will be assessed. Assessments will be completed by participants and their main informal carer online using electronic Patient Reported Outcomes (ePRO) or, for participants where this is not possible, via telephone or videoconference with a cRA.



RES 020 032 ASCEnD Clinical Trial Protocol v3.0 11 SEP 2024 Based on NCTU ctIMP Protocol Template version 4.0 15th February 2018 Page 28 of 75

5.1. Schedule of Events

Drocoduros	Scrooning	Baseline												Fol	low-ı	up Wo	eek										Trial Completion
Procedures	Screening		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	
Site team activities																											
Informed consent	Х																										
Eligibility assessment	X ^{a,b}																										
Pregnancy testing (if applicable)	X ^g																										
Demographics	Х																										
Medical history	Х																										
Review of current medications	Х																										
Randomisation		Х																									
Prescribe trial medication		Х																									
Participant Recompense		Xc														Xd											Xc
cRA activities														-													
cRA contact			Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Participant activities (assessments t	o complete o	on the ePR	D sys	stem)																						
QIDS-SR	X ^{b,e}		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
GAD-7, ASRM, EQ-5D-5L		Xe	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Review of current medications			Х	Х	Х	х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	X	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
GASS, MARS, WSAS, TSQM, ICECAP-A, OxCAP-MH, HEQ		Xe				х										x										х	
Informal carer activities (assessments to complete on the ePRO system)																											
EQ-5D-5L, ICECAP-A, OxCAP-MH, CIIQ		X ^{e,f}				х										x										x	
Participant activities (optional explo	oratory asses	sments to	com	plete	e on	the	Go	rilla	™ sy	stei	m)																
PILT, BIS/BAS	X ^h			Xj										Xj													
			_										10.010					·									

(a) Includes completion of the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-5-TR Disorders-Research Version (SCID-5-RV).

(b) To be completed within 7 days preceding randomisation.

(c) Participant to be recompensed £15.

(d) Participant to be recompensed £20.

RES 020 032 ASCEnD Clinical Trial Protocol v3.0 11 SEP 2024

Based on NCTU ctIMP Protocol Template version 4.0 15th February 2018

(e) The QIDS-SR at screening, and baseline questionnaires, should be completed on paper to avoid delays to randomisation.

(f) To be completed within 14 days of the primary participant's baseline assessments.

(g) Pregnancy tests are done for women of childbearing potential not using effective methods of contraception (as defined in section 3.3.6)

(h) Optional baseline exploratory assessment to be completed prior to IMP initiation (for exploratory assessments only, IMP start date is defined as day 0).

(i) Optional follow up exploratory assessments to be measured post IMP initiation date. 1st follow-up to be completed between week 3-4 and 2nd follow up between week 13-14 post IMP initiation.

6. RECRUITMENT

The study will recruit patients with a pre-existing diagnosis of bipolar disorder, as well as those whose bipolar disorder is not yet recognised. The Clinical Research Networks (CRNs) will support recruitment via a number of routes. The Research+Me (R+Me) consent for contact registry (see appendix 2) is available, as well as the Be Part of Research registry (BPOR) (see section 6.2.4), to support recruitment.

6.1. Hard to reach groups

It is acknowledged that there is a differential in participation in clinical research across the population according to socio-demographic characteristics. Those living in socio-economically disadvantaged circumstances, and those from certain ethnic and marginalised groups are known to experience more barriers to accessing research opportunities and as a result are underrepresented in clinical research. The recruitment strategy for the ASCEnD study aspires to minimise this impact.

6.2. Participant Identification and initial contact

6.2.1. Identification via secondary care

Identification via secondary care mental health services will combine electronic patient record review (supported by the Clinical Record Interactive Search (CRIS) System where available (146)) and opportunistic approaches. It will be supported by flags in electronic notes where possible and by study profile raising. Initial contact will be from the patients' clinical team or local CRN delivery team who will facilitate consensual sharing of contact details with the site team. The site team will provide the patient with the study PIS and organise a screening appointment.

6.2.2. Identification via primary care

NHS primary care sites within a LCRN will be set up as Patient Identification Centres (PICs) to allow patient identification and invitation to the ASCEnD trial. Recruitment via primary care health services is described in sections 6.2.2.1 and 6.2.2.2 and will utilise opportunistic electronic health record alerts, active record and register searches and local Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) services.

6.2.2.1. Opportunistic approaches

Alerts in electronic records will serve to remind GPs and other primary care health care professionals about the study when seeing patients who are currently being treated for depression or who have a pre-existing diagnosis of bipolar disorder. In order to encourage the identification of depressive episodes in patients with bipolar disorder, the alert will include either the Patient Health Questionnaire-version 9 (PHQ-9) or NICE recommended Whooley screening questions (147) for a current depressive episode: "during the past month, have you often been bothered by feeling down, depressed, or hopeless?" and "during the past month, have you often had little interest or pleasure in doing things?" (148, 149). In patients with a diagnosis of depression, but not bipolar disorder, the alert will also include the question: "has there ever been a period of time when you were not your usual self and thoughts raced through your head or you couldn't slow your mind down?". This is the most sensitive question from the manic depression questionnaire (MDQ) (150). Primary Care health care professionals will ask those identified as potential participants for their permission to be contacted by an ASCEnD site team and will provide a link to the ASCEnD website, which includes the study PIS.

For patients who give verbal permission to be contacted by the ASCEnD site team, patient details will be sent to the local ASCEnD trial site team by phone or secure email. This will include patient identifiers (name, NHS number, DoB) and contact details. On receipt, a member of the trial team will contact the potential participant to further discuss the trial and potentially invite to a screening visit.

6.2.2.2. Record searches and IAPT

Primary care electronic patient record and register searches will be used to identify people with recorded diagnoses of bipolar disorder or of depression. Identified patients will be contacted by their usual care team or the CRN delivery team by text, e-mail or letter (depending on local practice).

Patients with mood disorders, who are currently depressed, and who have been referred into IAPT (via self-referral or GP-referral) will be identified using the PHQ-9 (151) depression rating scale. This is routinely completed at first IAPT assessments. Initial contact will be from the IAPT team and potential participants will provide a link to the ASCEnD website, which includes the study PIS.

As per the current NIHR funded BASIL study (152), we will look to utilise a follow up call to a sample of potential participants during the internal pilot. We will determine the broader cost per participant of this technique and determine whether there are any predictors of its success in recruitment (e.g. pre-existing diagnosis of bipolar disorder) to allow the strategy to evolve over the course of the recruitment period. The call will be made by the practice team or CRN delivery team members who have the appropriate access permissions.

6.2.3. Identification via self-referral

Self-referral into the trial will be supported by a content-led digital media campaign organised by the digital advertising company Just-R, and posters. This aims to raise the profile of clinical research and the opportunity to participate in ASCEnD. Just-R will advertise the study across a limited number of geographic regions at any one time. In addition, the study will be advertised via the charity Bipolar UK (who are funded through the application), the CRN, the associated Universities, and NHS trusts on relevant websites (including the Northern Centre for Mood Disorders and ASCEnD websites) and via engagement with third sector organisations (e.g., at peer support meetings, conferences and via publications).

The ASCEnD website (<u>www.ascendtrial.co.uk</u>) will include details of how potential participants can self-refer to the trial, including contact details for recruiting sites and how to register interest by completion of the Research + Me pre-screening assessment (section 6.2.66).

6.2.4. Be Part of Research (BPoR)

The trial will utilise recruitment via the NIHR BPoR registry. Volunteers who have consented to this registry are invited to take part in relevant trials by an email from BPoR. An email will be sent inviting BPoR volunteers to take part in ASCEnD, which will include a link to the trial website and how to register interest by completion of the pre-screening assessment (section 6.2.6).

6.2.5. Research plus Me

The trial will utilise the Research+Me (R+Me) recruitment platform, hosted by the Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation trust. R+Me has HRA REC favourable opinion for standard procedures (REC REF NE/23/0090) and a Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA).

At a rate determined by sites, R+Me registrants from the sites nearest relevant geographical locality will be sent information about the trial by email from R+Me. Registrants who do not respond to the initial invitation will be sent a limited number of reminders.

6.2.6. The Research plus Me Online Pre-Screening Assessment

R+Me has the functionality to support online pre-screening assessments for trials. As detailed in section 23.2 (Appendix 2) potential participants may access the ASCEnD study R+Me online pre-screener in different ways.

Potential participants may access the ASCEnD online pre-screener via an email invitation, after registration onto the R+Me registry and following their agreement to a consent statement and privacy notice.

If the potential participant does not want to register for R+Me but wants to complete the ASCEnD prescreening assessment, they may alternatively access the pre-screener directly without the need to register onto the registry (e.g. directly from the trial website or via one of the other referral pathways described). The potential participant will be required to agree to a 'pre-screener without registering for Research+Me' consent statement and privacy notice.

Participants will be supported to complete the pre-screener with a short video which will be available to view prior to completing.

Those undertaking the pre-screening assessment will be informed of the outcome of the assessment (potentially eligible or not eligible) and will receive an automated email including signposts to sources of appropriate additional support (for example their GP, Samaritans etc).

Registrants who are potentially eligible will receive an automated email containing the e-mail contact details of their local site team, as well as a link to the ASCEnD website that contains the study PIS. A data sharing conditions agreement will be completed between participating sites and R+Me, allowing delegated site staff access to the contact details of those potentially eligible participants who have consented for their contact details to be shared. This data will be shared by secure email and will include the potential participant's contact details and the details of the pre-screening assessment. Site staff will contact these patients on up to three occasions to see if they are interested in arranging a screening appointment. This contact may also serve to consider appropriateness for inclusion in the trial. The data sharing conditions agreement outlines that site teams should not keep or use the contact details for any other purpose and the details should be deleted once they are no longer needed (by the end of the study recruitment period at the latest).

7. ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA

Eligibility criteria for this trial are pragmatic, in line with UK clinical practice. There is no upper or lower limit of bipolar disorder treatment-resistance, duration of current depressive episode, time since initial symptoms or time since the diagnosis of bipolar disorder. Patients will *not* be excluded if they are receiving, planning to receive or have recently received psychological or digital therapies.

7.1. Inclusion criteria

Patients must fulfil all of the following criteria to progress to randomisation:

- 1. Aged 18 or over at the point of consent.
- 2. Able to provide written informed consent.
- A current (i.e., within 7 days) Diagnostic and Statistical Manual-5-Text Revision (DSM-5-TR) (153) confirmed diagnosis of a major depressive episode within bipolar disorder. This will be confirmed using the SCID-5-RV (153).
- 4. A current (i.e., within 7 days) QIDS-SR greater than 10.
- 5. Clinical uncertainty regarding the next course of treatment and judgement that the sertraline/aripiprazole combination and quetiapine treatment arms are both clinically appropriate and represent equipoise. This judgment includes consideration of reproductive risks.
- 6. In the opinion of the clinician, the participant is able to follow trial prescription instructions, complete weekly questionnaires and engage in weekly telephone calls with the cRAs throughout the 24 week follow up period of the trial.

7.2. Exclusion criteria

Any of the following criteria prevent progression to randomisation:

- 1. Currently participating in any other interventional clinical trial that may affect the outcome of ASCEnD.
- 2. DSM-5-TR defined severe substance use disorder (153).
- 3. Any known contraindications to aripiprazole, sertraline or quetiapine.
- 4. Currently pregnant, planning to become pregnant during the trial and/or breastfeeding.

8. ePRO, SCREENING AND CONSENT

8.1. ePRO

The electronic data capture system used in ASCEnD is Red Pill. ePRO is a function of the data capture system that allows participants to enter questionnaire responses directly into the clinical trial database (see section 18.1).

Participants will be encouraged to complete questionnaires weekly via ePRO throughout the study via email or text prompts. If a participant does not have access to the internet or is otherwise unable to enter data directly into ePRO, this process will be supported by the cRAs or site staff who will complete the questionnaires by telephone or videoconference with the participant and enter data on their behalf directly into the appropriate electronic Case Report Forms (eCRFs).

The PILT and BIS/BAS measures for the exploratory outcome (REWARD study) will be collected via the online platform "Gorilla[™]". If a participant does not have access to the internet or is otherwise unable

to access this online platform, they do not have to take part in this part of the trial. Capture of these exploratory measures are optional.

8.2. Screening and consent

The screening and consent appointment will be conducted by the site PI, or delegate, who is a GMC registered doctor. The site PI, or delegate, will discuss the trial with the potential participant, encourage them to ask questions about the trial and inform them of their right to withdraw at any time without any impact on the standard of care they will receive or their legal rights.

The appointment serves to:

- (i) Enable the potential participant to make an informed and capacious decision about whether to participate in the study. This includes the potential participant having a full understanding of the risks of trial participation, including the risks associated with the trial drugs. This risk includes risks associated with pregnancy that are set out in section 3.1 of this protocol and in the patient information sheet. Any reproductive risk- and its mitigation via effective contraception (see 3.3.6) should be considered at screening and consent. All WOCBP, as defined in protocol section 3.3.6, who are not using highly effective contraception should be given a highly sensitive pregnancy test to confirm they are not pregnant.
- (ii) Formally take and record study consent.
- (iii) Confirm all eligibility criteria for study participation are met. This includes completion of the SCID-5-RV diagnostic interview and QIDS-SR on paper, and entry of this information into the appropriate eCRFs by delegated site staff.
- (iv) Collect relevant study information including method of identification, current concomitant medications, recent (within 6 months) current and planned psychological therapy, medical history (time since diagnosis) and demographic details (including initials, age, sex at birth, gender, highest level of education, family status (single/divorced/married), ethnicity and postcode), This information may be entered directly into the appropriate eCRFs by delegated site staff, or documented on paper worksheets and later entered into the appropriate eCRFs.
- (v) Collect the potential participant's email address, register them to complete self-service questionnaires (ePRO) and support with completion and use of the system. If a participant has given consent to take part in the optional REWARD study, support to access the Gorilla[™] platform will be given.

8.2.1. Consent

Consent for trial participation must be sought by the site PI, or delegate, who is a GMC registered doctor. The original signed consent form must be filed in the Investigator Site File (ISF), a copy must be filed in the participant's medical records, and another copy given to the participant. Copies of the PIS used must be filed in the ISF and participant's medical notes. Participants will specifically consent to their GP (and referrer where applicable) being informed of their participation in the trial. Consent to the nested Qualitative pilot study and the REWARD study are both optional.

In the case of protocol amendments or information becoming available which may affect participant's willingness to continue in the trial, it may be necessary to re-consent participants on an updated consent form (after necessary regulatory approvals are obtained).

A copy of the completed consent form and QIDS-SR must be sent by site to the secure NCTU email address <u>nctu.ascend.conf@nhs.net</u> – this is for central monitoring purposes. Sites must send these documents using either an nhs.net account or a similar secure method which has been agreed by the NCTU Trial Manager(s). For participants who do not consent to sharing of their consent form, the study

consent proforma must be completed by site staff and sent to NCTU instead, via the same method. The proforma will enable NCTU Trial Manager(s) to assess the accuracy of completion of each consent form without sight of a participant's personal details.

8.2.2. Eligibility

Eligibility for the ASCEnD trial must be assessed by GMC registered doctor after receiving written informed consent from a patient to take part in the study. This assessment must be documented in the participant's medical records. Only personnel formally delegated by the local PI to assess eligibility may perform this task. If it is determined that a patient does not meet the trial's eligibility criteria, they will be considered a "screen failure", continue with their standard treatment pathway, and medical delegates will collect no additional data except to record the reason for non-progression (where provided) on the study screening log.

If eligibility is confirmed, the PI (or delegated clinician) will inform the participant, the participant's GP (and referrer where applicable) via the study GP letter, the cRAs by the study Contact Form (sent by secure email to <u>ASCEnD@cntw.nhs.uk</u>) and a copy of the completed eligibility proforma must be sent by site to the secure NCTU email address <u>nctu.ascend.conf@nhs.net</u> for central monitoring purposes.

Enrolling a patient onto the trial who does not meet the inclusion/exclusion criteria is considered a protocol waiver and is in breach of Regulation 29 (SI 2004/1031) of the Medicines for Human Use (Clinical Trials) Regulations 2004. Protocol waivers are not permitted.

8.2.3. Screening and recruitment of informal carers

We are using the term "informal carer" to define a spouse, family member or friend who provides support in an unpaid capacity. All participants should be asked who, given this definition, they would consider to be their main informal carer and asked if they agree for contact between that person and the study team. If so, the site's contact details should be given to the participant for them to pass to their informal carer (if the informal carer is not present at the participant's screening/baseline visit). The informal carer must then contact the site team to arrange a face-to-face consent appointment. This must take place no later than 14 days after the primary participant's baseline appointment. At the carer's consent appointment, the nature, use and identifiable nature of any information that will be asked of the informal carer (see below) should be explained. The informal carer can only participate in ASCEnD if:

- (i) the primary participant gives written informed consent for contact between the site team and their informal carer.
- (ii) the informal carer is considered likely to be able to provide written informed consent.
- (iii) the informal carer is at least 18 years of age.
- (iv) the informal carer is able to access and use the online ePRO system.

Consent for informal carer participation must be sought by an appropriately trained and delegated member of the site team. The original signed consent form must be filed in the ISF, and another copy given to the informal carer. Copies of the PIS used must be filed in the ISF. In the case of protocol amendments or information becoming available which may affect informal carer's willingness to continue in the trial, it may be necessary to re-consent informal carers on an updated consent form (after necessary regulatory approvals are obtained). Copies of informal carer's consent forms do not need to be sent to NCTU for central monitoring purposes.
Following consent, demographic details (specifically initials, age, sex at birth, gender, highest level of education, family status (single/divorced/married), ethnicity and post-code) will be collected and access to ePRO arranged. Site staff should support informal carers with use of ePRO and if required, help them to register their email address to support with completion of self-service questionnaires and use of the system. Informal carers will be prompted after their first login to change their password to something that only they know.

Only one informal carer may be consented and recruited per ASCEnD participant.

9. BASELINE AND RANDOMISATION

Once a participant is confirmed as eligible to take part in the study, a baseline appointment will be arranged. The screening and baseline appointments are likely to occur during the same visit.

The baseline appointment serves to:

- (i) Collect baseline measures (including issuing the optional exploratory REWARD study task logon instructions if a participant has provided consent).
- (ii) Randomise participants to either aripiprazole/sertraline combination, or quetiapine.
- (iii) Prescribe trial medication or communicate the randomisation to the clinical team, if the site team is not the same as the clinical team.

9.1. Baseline measures

Baseline measures will be completed on paper and include the GAD-7, ASRM, EQ-5D-5L, GASS, MARS, WSAS, TSQM, ICECAP-A, OxCAP-MH and HEQ. Baseline measures for informal carers will be completed on paper and include the EQ-5D-5L, ICECAP-A, OxCAP-MH and CIIQ. This will be supported by paper questionnaire booklets for participants and their informal carers. Delegated site staff will enter this information into the appropriate eCRFs and copies of participant- and carer-completed questionnaires are to be kept with participant trial documents for monitoring purposes.

The following optional exploratory outcome measures will also be completed prior to IMP initiation, if a participant has consented to take part in the REWARD study:

- (i) measurement of the probabilistic instrumental learning task (PILT)
- (ii) measurement using Behavioural Inhibition System/Behavioural Approach System (BIS/BAS)

These measures will be captured by the participant using the online Gorilla[™] platform. **The IMP start** date will be defined as day 0 for exploratory outcome measures only.

The optional exploratory outcome measure tasks should be completed anytime before IMP initiation (i.e., even on the same day, but before) with the recommendation to complete the task as close as possible to IMP initiation.

9.2. Randomisation

Eligible participants will be randomised in a 1:1 ratio to aripiprazole/sertraline combination or quetiapine. Randomisation will incorporate block stratification using three variables (being in mental health secondary care services at screening (y/n), being prescribed antidepressants at screening (y/n), being prescribed an antipsychotic at screening (y/n)). Randomisation will be conducted by a delegated and trained member of the site team at each site using Red Pill (a central, secure, 24-hour web-based

randomisation system, which is owned by Sealed Envelope[™]). Randomisation should take place as soon as possible and no more than one week after a participant has been confirmed as eligible.

Randomisation system URL: <u>https://www.sealedenvelope.com/access/</u>

This system is available 24 hours a day, seven days a week. In the event that the online system is not accessible at site, NCTU can liaise with Sealed Envelope Support to investigate the cause. Site staff should contact NCTU Database Support during normal working hours:

Email: <u>nctu.database.support@newcastle.ac.uk</u>

Telephone: 0191 208 8211

9.3. Prescription of study medication

Prescriptions for study medications will be written by the participant's clinical team, which may include non-medical prescribers where this is standard procedure at site for these medications. Sometimes the clinical team will not overlap with the research team. If this is the case, efficient communication between the site team and the clinical team is important to avoid any delays in treatment onset. The randomisation email sent to site PIs (or their nominated delegate) following randomisation will serve to remind the site team to either write a prescription or contact the participant's clinical team to do so.

10. TREATMENT AND FOLLOW UP

All participants are followed up for 24 weeks while taking trial medication.

10.1. Research measures

Weekly measures to be completed through to week 24 include:

- (i) participant completion of the QIDS-SR, GAD-7, ASRM and EQ-5D-5L via ePRO.
- (ii) participant review of current medications during weekly telephone or videoconference calls with the cRAs. Participants will be asked to confirm:
 - a. whether there have been, and the nature of, any changes to their concomitant medications.
 - b. whether they have started taking either aripiprazole/sertraline or quetiapine.
 - c. what dose of either aripiprazole/sertraline or quetiapine they have taken on each of the previous 7 days.
 - d. Whether the risk of pregnancy of any participants has changed (eg via change in sexual activity of contraception) or if any WOCBP are, or could be, pregnant. If appropriate, the cRAs will share this information with the site team and/or recommend that participants contact their site team.

Participants will be supported in this process by a paper patient diary. The cRAs will enter the information provided by participants into the participant monitoring spreadsheet and then into the appropriate eCRF. To assist with the accurate collection of concomitant medication information, the ePRO system will generate a list of the medications and dosages the participant indicated they were taking the week prior. The list of concomitant medications taken by the participant at screening will have been entered previously by the site team (see section 8.2).

cRAs or site staff where there is appropriate resource will also support participants in the completion of questionnaires by phone and by email and by posting paper copies out where appropriate, and will especially prioritise calls between weeks 12 and 16 to facilitate data completeness for the primary outcome.

At weeks 4, 14 and 24, additional measures to be completed include:

- (i) participant completion of the GASS, MARS, WSAS, TSQM ICECAP-A, OxCAP-MH and HEQ via ePRO. HEQ data will be triangulated with information from patient records requested from treatment teams if necessary and collated by cRAs (see section 16.1).
- (ii) informal carer completion of the EQ-5D-5L, ICECAP-A, OxCAP-MH and CIIQ via ePRO.

10.2. Optional Exploratory Outcome Measures (REWARD Study)

For those participants who have consented to the REWARD study, the participant ID, partial DoB (MM/YYYY), date of randomisation, and participant IMP initiation date will be shared with the REWARD study team via email in order to schedule exploratory follow-up measurements and email/text reminders to participants.

Follow up optional exploratory outcome measures will be completed at weeks 3-4 (1st follow up) and weeks 13-14 (2nd follow up) after IMP start date (IMP start date defined as day 0 for exploratory outcome measures), only if a participant has consented to take part in the REWARD study:

- (i) measurement of the Probabilistic Instrumental Learning Task (PILT)
- (ii) measurement using Behavioural Inhibition System/Behavioural Approach System (BIS/BAS)

These measures will be captured by the participant using the online Gorilla[™] platform.

An instruction sheet and video will support participants to complete the exploratory measure on the Gorilla[™] platform and provide more information on the REWARD study and a working instruction made available to sites.

Taking part in the REWARD study is only available to participants who are not randomised to continue the same medication (quetiapine and aripiprazole only) and who complete the baseline measure prior to initiation of either quetiapine or aripiprazole. For the purposes of inclusion in the REWARD study, timing of starting or continuation of sertraline is irrelevant.

10.2.1 PILT (REWARD Study)

The PILT consists of a 2-arm bandit decision-making task. On each trial, patients are presented with two abstract shapes (letters selected from the Agathodaimon font). In "win" trials, symbols within each pair are associated with reciprocal probabilities (0.7 vs 0.3) of a "win" outcome (+20 points) or a "no win" outcome (0 points). In "loss" trials, symbols within each pair are associated with reciprocal probabilities of a "loss" outcome (-20 points) or a "no loss" outcome (0 points). Patients are instructed to choose one of the symbols, after which they receive visual feedback (e.g., "+20 points") alongside their current total points. Across testing sessions, patients are instructed to learn which symbol in each pair leads to the best outcome more frequently, and to consistently select this.

10.2.1 BIS/BAS (REWARD Study)

The BIS/BAS scales are a 24-item self-report measure of sensitivity. The scales are composed of four subscales, including BIS responsible for promoting negative affective states and avoidance (7 items),

RES 020 032 ASCEnD Clinical Trial Protocol v3.0 11 SEP 2024 Based on NCTU ctIMP Protocol Template version 4.0 15th February 2018 the BAS responsible for promoting positive affective states and approach behaviour, Fun Seeking (4 items), Drive (4 items), and Reward Responsiveness (5 items). Four additional items are fillers. Participants are asked to rate each item on a four-point Likert-type scale (1 = Very true for me; 4 = Very false for me).

10.3. Clinical measures

Clinical teams are encouraged to follow the NICE recommended monitoring of trial medication throughout the treatment and follow up phase of the study.

11. TRIAL COMPLETION

11.1. End of trial participation

After 24 weeks of follow up, participants who are being seen in research clinics will be transferred to standard clinical pathways. The study will not prompt change in ongoing drug treatment and study medication will not stop because the study has ended. Participants will be contacted and thanked for their participation.

11.2. Withdrawal criteria

Participants have the right to withdraw from the trial at any time without having to give a reason. Investigator sites should try to ascertain the reason for withdrawal and document this within the appropriate eCRF and participant's medical notes, and also notify the cRAs and NCTU. NCTU will inform the REWARD and Qualitative study teams. Participants who withdraw from the trial will not be replaced. *Discontinuation of trial medication is not synonymous with trial withdrawal*.

The Investigator may discontinue a participant from the trial at any time if they consider it necessary for any reason including:

- Participant withdrawal of consent.
- Significant protocol deviation or non-compliance.
- Investigator's discretion that it is in the best interest of the participant to withdraw.
- Loss of mental capacity to participate in the study. In these cases, the PI must perform a best interest assessment as per the Mental Capacity Act (154) to determine whether continued data collection is in the best interest of the participant.
- An adverse event that renders the participant unable to continue in the trial.
- Termination of the clinical trial by the Sponsor.

Participants who have consented to the nested qualitative study will have the option to continue to take part in the qualitative study, or also withdraw from this part of the study.

11.3. End of trial

The end of the trial is defined as the last patient, last visit (LPLV) date.

12. PARTICIPANT RECOMPENSE

Participants will receive recompense for time and inconvenience on a pro-rata basis. It has been agreed with the charity, Bipolar UK, that a level of £50 per randomised participant (£15 from identification to randomisation, £20 from randomisation to week 14 and a further £15 from week 14 to completion) is appropriate to recompense for inconvenience and time (this may be gift voucher or

money depending on local site). A further £25 gift voucher recompense for participants who consent to take part in the nested qualitative study will be paid for their time. All GPs who consent to take part in the nested qualitative study will be paid £88 gift voucher recompense for their time, in accordance with guidance issued by the British Medical Association. Reasonable travel expenses and any directly identifiable costs will also be paid.

13. TRIAL MEDICATION

13.1. Name and description of IMP

For the purposes of this trial, quetiapine, sertraline and aripiprazole are classed as IMP.

- Quetiapine is an antipsychotic drug and is licensed for the treatment of depression in bipolar disorder.
- Sertraline is a selective serotonin re-uptake inhibitor and is licensed for the treatment of depression.
- Aripiprazole is an antipsychotic drug and is licensed for the treatment of schizophrenia and treatment and recurrence prevention of mania.

Quetiapine is being used within its licensed indication in this study. Sertraline and aripiprazole are being used outside of their licensed indications.

13.2. Drug storage and supply

IMP will be provided, open label, by local pharmacies according to their usual prescribing practices. Any brand of study medication may be used. No specific storage instructions arise as a result of this study and no temperature monitoring or accountability of the products is required to be carried out by sites. Storage should be in line with the product SmPC being utilised for the treatment.

13.3. Preparation and labelling of IMP

Labels and packaging will follow local usual clinical and dispensing practices, which may differ between sites. As study medication will be provided open label, annex 13-compliant labelling is not required on the products at the point of dispensing.

13.4. Dosage schedule and modifications

The study does not mandate use of specific medication dosages or dose escalation procedures. Instead, clinicians are encouraged to use their judgement in accordance with clinical guidelines and the BNF dose schedule. Dosage decisions and decisions regarding the ongoing use of study medications taken during the study remain the responsibility of the prescriber but are informed by a participant's weekly clinical scale scores and reported side effects. Further guidance is provided in appendix 1.

13.5. Known drug reactions and interactions

For a full list of side effects and safety information, refer to the relevant SmPC and BNF.

13.6. Concomitant medications

Local site teams should follow their usual clinical practice and consult the BNF to review cautions and contra-indications (see appendix 1).

13.7. Assessment of compliance

Participants will report compliance weekly to cRAs, and cRAs will record this information in the appropriate eCRF. Participants will also complete the MARS at baseline and weeks 4, 14 and 24.

13.8. Discontinuation of IMP

Participants who discontinue trial medication will be encouraged to remain in the trial and to continue to provide outcome data.

14. INTERNAL PILOT

The trial includes an internal pilot which will run for 9 months from the start of the recruitment period. It will incorporate a nested qualitative study and evaluation of study progress.

14.1. Nested qualitative study

A nested qualitative study will be conducted within the internal pilot with the aim of informing recruitment strategies and optimising training for the participating sites. We will explore the acceptability of the intervention and trial participants' reasons for withdrawal and completion. We will also explore perspectives of diagnosis and management of bipolar disorder and attitudes to medication combinations. The nested study will follow a fully detailed pre-specified qualitative analysis plan that is reviewed by the trial oversight committees.

14.1.1. Participant recruitment to qualitative study

The site name, participant ID, date of randomisation, date started and stopped medication, and (for those who assert their right to) date of withdrawal will be shared with the Keele qualitative research team for those participants who have consented to the qualitative study. For those participants selected for interview, contact details for the participant, their next of kin and their site and care teams, as well as participant DoB, will be shared via the cRAs using the study Contacts Form. A qualitative research associate at Keele University will contact the participant(s) and ask to participate in a semi-structured interview. If the participant is happy to proceed, verbal consent will be taken and documented by the qualitative research associate prior to the interview. A copy of this consent form will be shared with the participant by post or email. Up to 25 people with bipolar disorder who consented during the internal pilot, will be invited to interview (15 people who complete the trial and ten who withdraw). It is anticipated that this number of participants will be sufficient to achieve data saturation (155). From those who give consent, a range of people based on age, gender, ethnicity, and area of work (deprivation indices) will aim to be sampled.

14.1.2. Staff recruitment to qualitative study

Psychiatrists in participating trial sites (but not PIs), as well as GPs, will also be interviewed to explore the acceptability of the recruitment procedures and of trial drugs. Staff members may hear about the opportunity to take part in a qualitative interview by attendance at study meetings, networks, snowballing, or social media and will be provided with the relevant staff PIS prior to consent to take part. The name and contact details of staff members who agree (verbally or by email) to be contacted to be interviewed, will be shared with the Keele qualitative research team along with their PI's contact details. If the staff member is happy to proceed, verbal consent will be taken and documented by the qualitative research associate prior to the interview. A copy of this consent form will be shared with the participant by post or email. We will interview up to 15 GPs and 15 Psychiatrists or until data saturation is achieved. Purposive sampling of GPs and Psychiatrists will ensure sampling across the sites and aim for a range of clinicians based on age, gender, ethnicity, and area of work (deprivation indices).

14.1.3. Qualitative study procedures and data protection

Interviews will be conducted by a qualitative research associate, either by telephone or using a virtual platform, in line with COVID-19 restrictions and to reduce costs and participant burden. If a participant requests a face-to-face interview, this will be accommodated in line with COVID-19 guidance. Interviews will be digitally recorded with consent, transcribed verbatim (as per Keele University policy using an approved transcription company under a data processing agreement) and pseudo-anonymised using participant ID. The transcripts will form the data to be analysed. Personal data will only be accessible to the research team during the data collection phase of the study and stored on Keele University's secure network in a password-protected folder. Personal data and interview recordings will be kept for up to six months after the end of the pilot phase of the study, this will be password protected and stored in a different file to the transcripts. The transcripts of the recordings will be kept for up to 5 years.

If a participant consents to be informed of findings of the qualitative study, then contact details will be kept on Keele University's secure network in a password-protected folder until the end of the study. This data will be deleted once findings have been disseminated.

If a participant or member of staff chooses to withdraw their consent before an interview, their personal data including the study contact form received from cRAs (but excluding their consent form), will be permanently deleted from Keele University's secure network. If a participant or member of staff chooses to withdraw their consent during or after an interview, their personal data including the study contact form received from cRAs (but excluding their consent form), will be permanently deleted from cRAs (but excluding their consent form), will be permanently deleted from Keele University's secure network. The interview recording and pseudo-anonymised transcript will be retained unless the participant requests that the recording is destroyed prior to transcription. Withdrawals from the qualitative study will be fed back to both the cRAs and the site PI.

A qualitative risk protocol is in place to ensure the site PI is notified if intent to harm, suicidal ideation, domestic violence or a safeguarding concern is disclosed by a participant during an interview (see sections 3.1 and 3.2 for further details). As per section 14.1.1., the qualitative research team will obtain a copy of the contact form for participants prior to their interview, which include contact details for their site and care teams and next of kin, should these be required in case of cause for concern. Prior to interviews, the researcher will also speak to the cRAs to see whether the participant has already been flagged as at risk for self-harm, suicidal ideation, or domestic violence.

14.1.4. Qualitative study topic guide

Topic guides will explore the acceptability of the intervention and trial participants' reasons for withdrawal and completion. As well as current difficulties in making a diagnosis and management of bipolar disorder, attitudes to medication combinations, challenges in accessing or delivering specialist opinion within current NHS systems, and possible change in workload will be explored in order to help inform potential future implementation of the use of aripiprazole/sertraline combination into clinical practice. The topic guides will be developed with reference to the existing literature, and with input from the study team and LEAP (Lived Experience Advisory Panel) (see section 20.3) and will be modified iteratively as data generation and analysis progresses.

14.1.5. Qualitative study analysis

An inductive approach using thematic analysis (156) will be conducted, looking for connections within and across interviews, and across codes, highlighting data consistencies and variation. A sample of initial transcripts will be independently coded by members of the qualitative site team to develop categories and themes to be discussed at team and LEAP meetings. Analysis will be an iterative process, carried out in collaboration with the study LEAP, with emergent findings used to further refine topic guides for subsequent interviews. The thematic analysis within datasets will be followed by a framework analysis based on the Theoretical Framework of Acceptability (157) across the datasets.

The findings of the qualitative study will be discussed in a LEAP meeting and at Trial Management Group (TMG) meetings (see section 16.8) to inform refinement of recruitment procedures and other aspects of the trial.

14.2. Evaluation of study progress

Data relating to overall site opening, recruitment and retention rates will be reviewed on an ongoing basis by the TMG (see section 16.8). Recruitment at individual sites will also be reviewed so that lessons from high recruitment sites can be applied to any site recruiting at a rate of <0.75 randomised participants/month.

We will also consider the utility of R+Me in recruitment to ASCEnD. Depending on the method of identification used, patients will receive distinct web links with which to access R+Me (see section 6), allowing an evaluation of the efficacy of recruiting participants to ASCEnD via the registry. A DPIA between Newcastle University and R+Me will be arranged as the study progresses to allow sharing of information relating to participants who were successfully recruited into ASCEnD via R+Me.

14.3. Progression criteria

ASCEnD has clear progression criteria (158). These will be assessed against the categories green/amber/red (see table below) from month 10 of the study. We anticipate 54 participants (20% of the overall total) to have been recruited and 8 sites (80% of the overall total) to be open to recruitment by this time. If 20% or fewer participants drop out of the study, this will mean that the study will proceed to the full trial as all green criteria have been met. If any one category meets amber criteria, this will trigger the instigation of a recovery plan, which will be supported by the trial oversight committees and proposed to the Funder. If any one category meets red criteria, study closure options will be discussed with the Funder. The Funder will have the final decision regarding study progression.

The progress of the study will be continually monitored by the study team and Funder. Recruitment and trial procedures will continue during the decision-making process.

	Green % (n)	Amber % (n)	Red% (n)
Total number of participants recruited	100% (54)	75-99% (41-53)	<75% (<41)

Total number of participants who drop out before week 16	≤20% (≤11)	21-30% (12-16)	>30% (>16)
Number of sites opened	100% (8)	75-99% (6-7)	<75% (<6)
Related actions/outcomes	Proceed with the main trial.	Consider mitigations with oversight groups and propose a recovery plan to Funder.	Closure options to be discussed with Funder.

15. PHARMACOVIGILANCE

15.1. Definitions

Term	Definition
Adverse Event (AE)	Any untoward medical occurrence in a participant to whom a medicinal product has been administered, including occurrences that are not necessarily caused by or related to that product.
Adverse Reaction (AR)	An untoward or unintended response in a participant to an investigational medicinal product which is related to any dose administered to that participant. The phrase "response to an investigational medicinal product" means that a causal relationship between a trial medication and an AE is at least a reasonable possibility i.e. the relationship cannot be ruled out. All cases judged by either the reporting medically qualified professional, or the Sponsor, as having a reasonable suspected causal relationship to the trial medication qualify as adverse reactions.
Reference Safety Information (RSI)	The RSI is a list of medical terms detailing the ARs that are expected for an IMP and must be referred to when assessing a SAR for expectedness.
Serious Adverse Event (SAE)	 A serious adverse event is any untoward medical occurrence that: Results in death. Is life-threatening*. Requires inpatient hospitalisation or prolongation of existing hospitalisation. Results in persistent or significant disability/incapacity. Consists of a congenital anomaly or birth defect. Includes other important medical events that jeopardise the participant or require intervention to prevent one of the above consequences. * "Life-threatening" refers to an event in which the participant was at immediate risk of death at the time of the event; it does not refer to an event which hypothetically might have caused death if it were more severe.
Serious Adverse Reaction (SAR)	An adverse event that is both serious and, in the opinion of the reporting Investigator, believed with reasonable probability to be due to one of the trial treatments, based upon the information provided.
Suspected Unexpected Serious Adverse Reaction (SUSAR)	A serious adverse reaction, the nature and severity of which is not consistent with the approved RSI.

15.2. Recording and reporting AEs and SAEs

AEs occurring from randomisation to the end of study participation will be recorded by participants using the GASS. This will collect only a sub-set of adverse events which will not be reviewed for severity

or causality; this is appropriate given study medications already have marketing authorisation and extensive safety data for all study medications are already available.

SAEs will be identified by site teams and, occasionally, cRAs via telephone or videoconference calls with participants. All SAEs occurring following randomisation to the end of study participation must be reported to NCTU on the ASCEND SAE form and also recorded in the appropriate eCRF page.

All SARs occurring from randomisation to the end of study participation must be reported to NCTU on the ASCEnD SAE form and also recorded in the appropriate eCRF page. Following this defined active monitoring period for SARs, investigators are still required to report any SARs or SUSARs they become aware of.

All SAEs/SARs must be reported to NCTU on the ASCEnD SAE form by email (<u>nctu.ascend.sae@nhs.net</u>) within 24 hours of research staff becoming aware of the event (see appendix 3).

Preliminary reporting to NCTU via email is acceptable in order to meet the 24-hour reporting timeline, where circumstances do not allow for immediate completion of the SAE form. However, the SAE form should be completed and submitted as soon as possible after the initial notification in order to comply with reporting timelines.

For each SAE the following information will be collected:

- Full details in medical terms and case description
- Event duration (start and end dates, if applicable)
- Action taken
- Outcome
- Seriousness criteria
- Causality in the opinion of the investigator
- Whether the event is considered expected or unexpected in accordance with the approved RSI if a causal relationship is suspected.

Any change of condition or other follow-up information should be submitted to NCTU using secure email to <u>nctu.ascend.sae@nhs.net</u> as soon as it is available, or at least within 24 hours of the information becoming available. Events will be followed up until the event has resolved or a final outcome has been reached.

15.3. Recording and reporting SUSARs

All SUSARs occurring from randomisation until 28 days post a participant's 24-week follow up visit must be reported to the MHRA and REC. The Sponsor will perform this reporting.

The assessment of expectedness will be performed by the CI against the approved RSI for the trial. As medication doses will differ amongst participants and the manufacturer of study medications used will vary across participating sites, we will use the most common brand of each of the study medications as the relevant RSI for the purposes of this trial. We are using section 4.8 of the relevant SmPC as the RSI for this trial.

Medication	Section 4.8 of SmPC
Aripiprazole tablets	Abilify 30 mg tablets
Sertraline tablets	Lustral 100 mg film-coated tablets

Quetiapine tablets	Seroquel 300 mg film-coated tablets

Fatal and life-threatening SUSARS must be reported no later than 7 calendar days after the Sponsor has first knowledge of the event. Any relevant follow-up information must be sought and reported within a further 8 calendar days.

Non-fatal SUSARs must be reported no later than 15 calendar days after the Sponsor has first knowledge of the event. Any relevant follow-up information should be sought and reported as soon as possible after the initial report.

As soon as a site suspects that a SAR may be a SUSAR they must contact the CI, the Sponsor representative and the NCTU Trial Manager(s) immediately. The reporting timeframe starts at day 0 when the Sponsor is in receipt of a minimum set of information:

- Sponsor trial reference and trial name (Sponsor reference)
- patient trial number and DoB
- name of IMP(s)
- date of notification of the event
- medical description of the event
- date and time of the onset of the event (including event end date, if applicable)
- causality assessment
- seriousness of the event, particularly if life threatening or fatal
- an identifiable reporter (e.g., PI).

This information must be provided on the ASCEnD SAE reporting form (see appendix 3). The site is expected to fully cooperate with the Sponsor in order that a full and detailed report can be submitted to the MHRA and REC within the required timelines.

PIs will be informed of all SUSARs by the Sponsor.

16. ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Embedding research into the NHS and it being delivered by clinicians across primary and secondary care raises potential challenges regarding responsibilities. These challenges and the response to them will differ between sites and over time.

16.1. Central RAs

The cRAs are responsible for contacting participants throughout the study, via telephone and/or videoconference. This will take place weekly from week 1, with calls that inform the primary outcome during weeks 12-16 prioritised. Whether calls have taken place will be recorded in the appropriate eCRF, with reasons for missed calls documented.

cRAs will:

 Collect concomitant medication information and details of IMP start and adherence directly into the appropriate eCRFs. The cRAs will enter the information provided by participants into the participant monitoring spreadsheet and then into the appropriate eCRF. Participants will communicate this information to cRAs during each weekly contact and will be supported in doing so via a paper patient diary.

- help participants complete questionnaires in ePRO. This may involve completing questionnaires on behalf of participants who themselves are unable to access or use the ePRO system; this can be done via a telephone call, videoconference or by sending a paper copy of the questionnaire to the participant where site do not have this capacity. For sites that have capacity, they will assist in completion of questionnaires.
- monitor the completeness of participant's entries in ePRO. If there are missed entries, the cRA will attempt to schedule an ad-hoc contact with the participant to provide additional assistance. The cRA will contact the site team if there are concerns regarding engagement.
- contact the site PI (or nominated delegate) if any signs of deterioration (e.g. suicidal ideation, overdose etc.) are either disclosed during a call with a participant or are identified (see section 3). cRAs have the option of emailing or telephoning healthcare professionals listed on participant Contacts Forms, depending on the more appropriate mode of communication in these instances.
- maintain up to date records of the contact details of all site PIs.
- maintain up to date records of the contact details of study participants via an appropriate contact form.

16.2. Site team

The site team comprises the PI, staff from the Mental Health and Primary Care CRN and other support staff as appropriate and delegated at participating sites. The PI (or appropriate delegate within the site team) will be responsible for:

- identifying participants, at times liaising with colleagues within primary and secondary care to provide education with regards to the study.
- confirming participant consent and eligibility for the study.
- collecting information relating to demographics, medical history and concomitant medications at screening, and entering this information into the appropriate eCRFs.
- Entering data from participant and carer-completed paper questionnaires from screening and baseline into the appropriate eCRFs.
- randomisation of participants.
- contacting the participant's clinical team to prescribe study medication. Where responsibility for a participant's clinical care sits with the site team, the site team can themselves prescribe study medication.
- contacting the participant's clinical team in cases of participant deterioration. Where responsibility for a participant's clinical care sits with the site team, the site team can themselves develop a plan to ensure the ongoing safety of the participant.
- documenting any discussions with study researchers in medical records where relevant.
- ensuring that participants receive appropriate recompense.

With regards to safety reporting, the PI will:

- assign causality to all SAEs.
- ensure that all SAEs/SARs, including SUSARs and pregnancies, are recorded and reported to NCTU within 24 hours of becoming aware of the event and provide further follow-up information as soon as it is available.

16.3. Clinical team

Participants' clinical care in relation to the study will be managed by either their primary or secondary care team. These teams have responsibility for the ongoing clinical care of the patient which may involve developing a plan to ensure the ongoing care of a study participant if any signs of deterioration

are identified during the study, and the prescribing of study medication. This may include non-medical prescribers where this is in line with the usual local prescribing processes.

16.4. National clinical support team

Newcastle-based psychiatrists with adequate understanding of the ASCEnD study (including the CI and deputy CI) will offer an out of hours (5pm – 9am) national on-call clinical support rota for primary and secondary care clinicians with study responsibilities. The team will provide support for the study and advise on uncertainty and equipoise decisions. Clinicians on the on-call rota will not make decisions about clinical care, which will remain the responsibility of the participant's clinical team.

16.5. Chief Investigator

The CI is responsible for:

- clinical oversight of the safety of trial participants, including an ongoing review of the risk/benefit profile of the study.
- assigning expectedness to SARs in line with the RSI.
- immediate review of all SUSARs.
- review/assignment of Medical Dictionary for Regulatory Activities (MedDRA) or body system coding for all SAEs and SARs.
- preparing the clinical sections and final sign off of the Annual Safety Report (ASR)

16.6. Sponsor

The Sponsor is responsible for:

- data collection and verification of AEs, ARs, SAEs, SARs and SUSARs onto a database (may be delegated to NCTU).
- reporting safety information to the independent oversight committees for the ongoing assessment of the risk/benefit ratio throughout the life of the trial (may be delegated to NCTU).
- assessment of expectedness of any SUSARs (may be delegated to the CI).
- expedited reporting of SUSARs to the CA and REC within required timelines.
- notification of all investigator sites of any SUSAR that occurs (may be delegated to NCTU).
- reviewing RSI at least annually and notification to PIs of any required updates (may be delegated to NCTU).

16.7. Trial Oversight Committees

The Data Monitoring Committee (DMC) is responsible for reviewing all trial safety data. They will meet at least annually throughout the trial and will make recommendations to the Trial Steering Committee (TSC) regarding trial progress. The TSC has the authority to recommend changes to the protocol and/or ongoing progress of the study. Membership of both committees has been agreed by the trial Funder.

The TSC consists of an independent chair with at least two other independent members, an informal carer representative, the CI and co-CI. Meetings may be attended by nonvoting observers including representatives from NCTU, Sponsor and Funder.

The DMC consists of an independent chair, an experienced independent statistician and at least one independent psychiatrist with an interest in bipolar disorder. The CI, co-CI and NCTU personnel will attend DMC meetings.

16.8. Trial Management Group

A TMG will be responsible for the day to day running of the study and will consist of the CI, co-CI, NCTU personnel, trial statisticians, health economists and as required other members of the co-applicant team. The TMG will meet on an approximately monthly basis.

16.9. Clinical Trials Unit

NCTU, a UK Clinical Research Collaboration (UKCRC) registered Clinical Trials Unit, will oversee study governance and delivery. NCTU is responsible for:

- methodological input into study design.
- creating monthly TMG reports and maintaining communication across the TMG.
- identification and mitigation of risks.
- contracting and financial management of the study.
- reporting to and communicating with the Sponsor and Funder.
- submission of trial documents for regulatory approvals at trial set-up and on an ongoing basis via amendments.
- site set-up, training and monitoring (onsite, remote and central).
- site close down and archival.
- design and building of the study database and randomisation system.
- day-to-day management of trial conduct, regularly liaising with trial sites.
- responding to data queries and data cleaning.
- administrative support, including minuting of meetings.

With regards to safety reporting, NCTU is responsible for:

• review and reconciliation of all SAEs, SARs and SUSARs reported by sites.

16.10. Notification of deaths

Should a site staff member or cRA become aware of the death of a participant, this should be notified to NCTU as an SAE immediately. This will form the notification of death to the Sponsor.

16.11. Pregnancy reporting

In the event of a study participant becoming pregnant on study, the site must notify NCTU within 24 working hours of becoming aware of the pregnancy using the pregnancy reporting form. Completed pregnancy reporting forms should be sent to NCTU by secure email to <u>nctu.ascend.sae@nhs.net</u>. Preliminary reporting to NCTU via email is acceptable in order to meet the 24-hour reporting timeline, where circumstances do not allow for immediate completion of the pregnancy reporting form. If cRAs become aware of a study participant becoming pregnant, they will alert the site PI.

Site teams must approach the study participant to obtain consent to follow the pregnancy until the outcome of the pregnancy is known. A copy of the completed pregnancy follow-up consent form must be sent by site to <u>nctu.ascend.conf@nhs.net</u> via secure email (for example, an nhs.net account or a similar method that has been agreed by the NCTU Trial Manager(s)). This is for central monitoring purposes. For participants who do not consent to sharing of their consent form, the study pregnancy follow-up consent proforma must be completed by site staff and sent to NCTU instead, via the same method. The proforma will enable NCTU Trial Manager(s) to assess the accuracy of completion of each pregnancy follow-up consent form without sight of a participant's personal details.

Follow up of any pregnancy will comprise regular telephone or videoconference calls to the participant, and documentation of the outcome of the pregnancy, and any AEs, in the participant's medical notes.

16.12. Overdose

BNF-recommended maximum daily dosages of study medications are 30 mg aripiprazole, 200 mg sertraline and 800 mg quetiapine (159). If a participant reports that they have taken more than any of these dosages of study medication during their weekly calls with a cRA, the cRA must email or telephone site PIs as soon as possible. Site teams should consult the SmPC of trial medications for advice on the management of overdose. Any instance of a trial participant taking more medication than prescribed should be reported as a protocol deviation by the site team and the PI (or appropriate delegate) should assess whether participant is suitable to stay in the study. More than one known instance of overdose would be assessed by the trial Sponsor as to whether they constituted a serious breach.

16.13. Reporting Urgent Safety Measures

An Urgent Safety Measure (USM) is an action that the Sponsor or an Investigator may take in order to protect the participants of a trial against any immediate hazard to their health or safety. Upon implementation of an USM by an Investigator, NCTU must be notified immediately and details of the USM given. NCTU must inform the MHRA and the REC within 3 days of the USM taking place in accordance with NCTU's SOPs.

16.14. Annual Safety Reports

A short version Annual Safety Report (ASR) will be submitted to MHRA once a year on the anniversary of the CTA date. NCTU must ensure that the report is submitted within 60 days of the end of the reporting period. NCTU staff will prepare and submit the ASR for the trial, in accordance with NCTU SOPs. The CI must review and authorise the final report before it is ready for submission. The ASR should also be reviewed by the NCTU Quality Assurance (QA) Manager and Sponsor representative prior to submission.

17. STATISTICAL CONSIDERATIONS

17.1. Analysis population

The primary analysis population will be the intention to treat (ITT) population (i.e. participants analysed according to randomisation allocation).

17.2. Analysis overview

The analysis will follow a fully detailed pre-specified statistical analysis plan (SAP) that is reviewed by the trial oversight committees.

17.3. Analysis of the primary outcome

The primary analysis will be on the ITT population and will use mixed effects linear regression to account for the repeated measurements. The analysis will compare the weekly repeated 12-16-week QIDS-SR scores in the two arms adjusted for baseline QIDS-SR score and all stratification factors. The statistical analysis will use all weekly measurements available between 12 and 16 weeks.

17.3.1. Sensitivity analyses on the primary outcome

One sensitivity analysis will adjust for the stratification factors as in the ITT analysis but be conducted on the per protocol population which is defined in the SAP.

A second will repeat the primary analysis but include outcomes for all randomised participants by using appropriate multiple imputation techniques to infer values for missing data.

17.4. Primary outcome period

The primary outcome period for analysis is 12-16 weeks because data from other studies of quetiapine in bipolar disorder (52, 108, 109, 160), and of sertraline (161-163) and aripiprazole (78, 79) in unipolar depression studies, show that the point of maximum separation will occur 6-8 weeks after dose escalation. The 12–16-week period allows time for medication transition to the IMP and for response to optimised doses for each individual in the study in both treatment arms. Twelve weeks is also the time point used for assessment of acute efficacy in previous CEQUEL and PAX-BD studies in bipolar depression.

17.5. Power

We will use a minimum clinically important change in QIDS-SR of two points which has been previously established in two clinical trials (110, 164) and will use design parameters calculated from PreDiCT (165) and CEQUEL (110); specifically a standard deviation of the QIDS-SR outcome of 5.4 and a correlation of 14 week QIDS-SR with baseline of 0.5. Based on PreDiCT (165) and CEQUEL (110), we further assume a conservative estimate of 0.9 correlation between 2 post randomisation measures observed between 12 and 16 weeks to power the trial. The sample size calculation assumes an average of 2 (of the total 5) measurements will be available. We conservatively have assumed an attrition rate (defined as dropping out of the trial outcome follow up between randomisation and week 12) of 20% for the primary outcome point, based in part on CEQUEL (110). 270 participants randomised will provide 90% power using 5% two-sided significance testing.

Including two or more weekly measurements for the repeated measures design increases power. The trial therefore becomes more efficient and less costly without losing robustness of the evidence of effect size because of the need for a smaller sample size.

17.6. Analysis of secondary outcomes

Secondary analyses allow examination of trajectories of symptom change and the pattern and cause of drug discontinuation over 24 weeks.

17.7. Analysis of Exploratory outcomes (REWARD Study)

Exploratory analyses will allow examination of reward processing changes over 14 weeks following IMP initiation (IMP initiation date defined as day 0 for the exploratory outcome). Further analyses will allow examination of reward processing changes over 14 weeks following IMP initiation and their association with trajectories of symptom changes over the full 24 weeks. These analyses will follow a fully detailed pre-specified REWARD study plan that will be reviewed by the trial oversight committees.

17.8. Health economic analysis

A prospective, within-trial economic evaluation will be conducted primarily from the health and social care perspective with secondary analyses incorporating wider societal costs (e.g. lost productivity, informal care) for the ITT sample over 24 weeks. Costs will be calculated by multiplying collected

resource use information with matching UK national-level unit costs from routine sources (e.g. 166). Quality-adjusted life years (QALYs) derived from the EQ-5D-5L will be assessed as the main outcome. With concerns about the responsiveness and comprehensiveness of the EQ-5D-5L in BD (167), alternative capability well-being outcomes (OxCAP-MH, ICECAP-A) and derived capability-weighted life years (CWLY) will be also measured. Missing cost and outcome data will be handled using multiple imputation methods. Differences between the two arms will be investigated within an incremental cost–effectiveness/cost-utility framework with extensive uncertainty and sensitivity analyses including per protocol and complete samples.

In addition, the effects on informal carers' health-related quality of life, capability well-being and their time and costs (based on the EQ-5D-5L, ICECAP-A, OxCAP-MH and the CIIQ completed by informal carers at baseline and weeks 4, 14 and 24) will be analysed, and also taken into consideration together with information from participants to investigate the cost-effectiveness jointly for the patient/informal carer dyad.

17.9. Equity analysis

The impact of socioeconomic status, age, gender and ethnicity (characteristics identified by the PROGRESS framework (168) as being important to consider in terms of equity of inclusion in health research) on recruitment, participation and the clinical and cost effectiveness of the study treatments will be determined. This will be examined by comparing these characteristics in populations eligible for and engaged in the trial at different points in the trial pathway. Relevant populations include the screening and randomisation populations for each site and patients who click on social media advertisements organised by Just-R, register with R+Me, are invited to complete the initial eligibility assessment, complete the initial eligibility assessment, appear eligible following the initial eligibility assessment, successfully contact sites to arrange a screening appointment, consent to participate, remain in the study until the primary outcome point and complete the study. All demographic details received from patients within the R+Me system will be anonymous.

Where possible, and with due accord to clinical governance pertaining to identifiable data, Clinical Practice Research Datalink (CPRD) (169), Primary Care Networks (PCN) and individual primary care centre records will be utilised to examine the impact of deprivation and ethnicity on primary care recruitment.

17.10. Interim analyses

There are no formal interim analyses planned except for snapshots reported to DMC, and therefore no criteria for the premature termination of the trial.

18. DATA HANDLING

18.1. Data collection tools

Clinical and safety data for trial participants will be recorded by local site staff and Clinical Studies Officers (CSOs)/equivalent in the appropriate eCRFs of the established clinical data management system (Red Pill), which is owned by Sealed Envelope[™]. Participant identification on the eCRFs will be through a unique trial ID number.

Trial participants will enter data from study questionnaires directly into ePRO, when prompted by email and/or text message throughout the study. There is the option for cRAs or site staff to help enter

participant data directly into the appropriate eCRFs during videoconference/telephone conversation with a participant, where participants cannot access or use the ePRO system. cRAs will also receive patient identifiable details on a study contact form which will be used to help support participants to complete data entry, enable risk procedures to be implemented when appropriate (see section 3.1 and 3.2) and enable the sharing of relevant study data with the Qualitative team.

Data from PILT and BIS/BAS as part of the optional REWARD study will be collected by participants entering data directly into the Gorilla[™] platform, when prompted by email and/or text message. Data will be stored on Gorilla[™] and Newcastle University OneDrive. Participant identification will be through a unique trial ID number and the month and year of birth of the participant as a second identifier, to add a further layer of data protection.

18.2. Data handling and record keeping

Overall responsibility for data collection lies with the CI. Data will be handled, computerised and stored in accordance with the Data Protection Act 2018. Paper copies of trial related documentation will be annotated, signed and dated, and filed in the medical notes. The overall quality and retention of trial data is the responsibility of the CI. All trial data will be retained in accordance with the latest Directive on GCP (2005/28/EC) and local policy.

Potential participants registering with the Research+Me registry will follow the usual REC-approved processes, with appropriate consent and provision of a approved privacy statement (see appendix 2). The data controller will be Newcastle Hospitals. For those in the 'ASCEnD only pathway', the Research+Me platform acts as a data processor, whilst the study sponsor acts as the data controller.

18.3. Access to data

Staff involved in the conduct of the trial at participating sites will have access to an ISF. NCTU will have access to all ISFs from all sites for monitoring purposes.

The trial data and patient medical records may be looked at by monitoring or auditing personnel from the REC or MHRA, or the Sponsor.

Password limited access, restricted to a particular role and site, to the trial's Red Pill[™] database will be granted to site PIs and their delegated data entry personnel. cRAs will have access to the trial's Red Pill [™] database for all sites for data entry purposes. The NCTU trial management team will also have access to the trial's Red Pill[™] database for all sites for monitoring purposes. For the REWARD study, data on participant IMP initiation date will be shared via email alongside the participant study ID unique trial ID number, in order to schedule follow-up measurements, as well as partial DoB (see section 10.2 for further details). For the nested qualitative study, contact details for the participant will be shared via the cRAs using the study contact form (see section 14.1 for further details).

Clinical information shall not be released without the written permission of the participant, except as necessary for monitoring and auditing by the Sponsor, its designee, Regulatory Authorities, the DMC or the REC. Secure anonymised electronic data will be released to the trial statistician and health economist for statistical analyses and the REWARD study team for exploratory analysis. The PI and trial site staff involved with this trial may not disclose or use for any purpose other than performance of the trial any data, record, or other unpublished, confidential information disclosed to those individuals for the purpose of the trial.

Prior written agreement from the Sponsor or its designee must be obtained for the disclosure of any confidential information to other parties.

Access and management of the ePRO system will be controlled and monitored by the online platforms' provider. The NCTU Data Management team will have administrative access to the Sealed Envelope ePRO system. The REWARD study team will have administrative access to the Gorilla[™] platform.

18.4. Archiving

Data will be archived in accordance with NCTU SOPs and European Commission Directive 2005/28/EC Article 17. Trial documents and data will be retained for a period of 5 years following close of trial in line with Sponsor policy and the latest Directive on GCP (2005/28/EC). Archiving will be authorised by the Sponsor following submission of the end of trial report. Authorisation will be requested from the Sponsor to destroy the documentation at the end of the archiving period.

18.5. Data handling within the nested qualitative study

Data storage procedures for the nested qualitative study will follow Keele University's SOPs for research. Personal data will only be accessible to the research team during the data collection phase of the study. A study database containing participant information will be housed on Keele University's secure network in a password-protected folder. Personal data will be kept for up to six months after the end of the study.

There are secure physical storage arrangements for hard copies within the School of Medicine in lockable filing cabinets. The School of Medicine building operates a key-code entry system to ensure only appropriate persons can enter the building. In addition, any hard copy research data that has been printed for checking will be destroyed by shredding.

Research data will be pseudo-anonymised prior to analysis through the use of a unique study code; only members of the study team will have access to the link to identify data. Electronic copies of anonymised transcripts will be stored for five years on a secure university network to be accessible for future research (where participant consent has been obtained).

Transcription of interviews may be sent to The Transcription Company (UK), a Data Processor. Keele University has a Data Processing Agreement (DPA) in place with the company who may use SendThisFile as a Sub-Processor to assist with the transcribing process. SendThisFile is registered and complies with the EU-US Data Privacy Framework and the UK Extension to this under Article 45 of the UK GDPR.

For archiving at the end of the study, all data will be maintained in such a form that they cannot be linked with identifiable participants and will be anonymised in the reports.

19. MONITORING, AUDIT AND INSPECTION

A trial monitoring plan will be developed prior to recruitment, based upon the trial risk assessment, and agreed by the TMG, NCTU QA representative and the Sponsor.

All monitoring activity will be detailed in the monitoring plan. Monitoring of trial conduct and data collected will be performed by a combination of central review and on- and off-site monitoring visits, to ensure the trial is conducted in accordance with GCP and appropriate regulations. Site monitoring will be undertaken by NCTU personnel.

All monitoring findings will be reported and followed up with the appropriate personnel in a timely manner. Sites will be expected to assist the Sponsor in monitoring the trial e.g. by hosting monitoring visits, providing information for on- and off-site monitoring and responding to monitoring findings within the timeframes requested.

The trial may be subject to audit by representatives of the Sponsor or inspection by the MHRA or HRA. Each investigator site will permit trial-related monitoring, audits and regulatory inspection including access to all essential and source data relating to the trial.

20. **REGULATORY CONSIDERATIONS**

20.1. REC review and reports

NCTU will obtain a favourable ethical opinion from an NHS REC prior to the start of the trial. All parties will conduct the trial in accordance with this ethical opinion.

NCTU will notify the REC of all required substantial amendments to the trial and those non-substantial amendments that result in a change to trial documentation (e.g. protocol or PIS). Substantial amendments that require a REC favourable opinion will not be implemented until this REC favourable opinion is obtained. NCTU will notify the REC of any serious breaches of GCP or the protocol, USMs or SUSARs that occur during the trial.

An annual progress report will be submitted each year to the REC by NCTU until the end of the trial. This report will be submitted within 30 days of the anniversary date on which the original favourable ethical opinion was granted.

NCTU will notify the REC of the early termination or end of trial in accordance with the required timelines.

20.2. Peer review

The trial has undergone peer review through the process of grant application and funding award by the NIHR HTA Panel. The REWARD (Optional Mechanistic) Study is funded by an internal PhD scholarship awarded from Newcastle University.

20.3. Public and patient involvement

A study LEAP has been organised by the McPin Foundation, a mental health research charity specialising in promoting patient involvement within mental health research trials (www.mcpin.org). The LEAP has provided input to the protocol and to patient-facing study documents. The group will meet regularly throughout the study to review progress and provide recommendations to the trial oversight committees. At trial end, the LEAP group will be involved in the dissemination of study findings to patient groups.

The former head of public involvement at the McPin Foundation was a co-applicant for the study and is a current member of the TMG. The TSC also includes an informal carer representative.

20.4. Regulatory compliance

The trial will be conducted in accordance with the Medicines for Human Use (Clinical Trials) Regulations 2004 and subsequent amendments. All parties must abide by these regulations and the ICH GCP guidelines. NCTU will obtain a CTA from the MHRA prior to the start of the trial and will notify

the MHRA of any substantial amendments that require review by the CA. These substantial amendments will not be implemented until the MHRA have issued an acceptance of the amendment. The Sponsor will notify the MHRA of any serious breaches of GCP or the protocol, USMs or SUSARs that occur during the trial. The ASR will be submitted each year to the MHRA by NCTU until the end of the trial. NCTU will notify the MHRA of the early termination or end of trial in accordance with the required timelines.

20.5. Protocol compliance

It is the responsibility of the CI to ensure that the study is run in accordance with GCP and the protocol. Study tasks may be delegated to a suitably qualified or experienced member of the site team, but the CI and PI at site will retain overall responsibility for adherence to the protocol and to GCP.

The study will be monitored by NCTU staff, to measure protocol compliance and manage deviations. Protocol deviations, non-compliances, violations or breaches are departures from the approved protocol. Deviations that could impact the outcome of the study or the safety or rights of participants will be classed as violations. Deviations that are found to frequently recur at a site are not acceptable. These will also be classified as violations and could also be classified as serious breaches (see section 20.6.). Prospective, planned deviations or waivers to the protocol are not allowed under the UK regulations on Clinical Trials and must not be used.

Site staff and cRAs are responsible for compliance with the protocol in their everyday trial activities and must report anything that they feel constitutes a SAE, SUSAR, protocol deviation, protocol violation, serious breach or anything that requires an USM. Deviations from the protocol and GCP occur in clinical trials and the majority of these events are technical deviations that are not serious breaches. These events must be documented by site on the protocol deviation log, with details of the relevant Corrective and Preventive Action(s) (CAPA) included. These will be reviewed by NCTU and the Sponsor in accordance with the NCTU SOP.

20.6. Notification of serious breaches

A serious breach is a breach which is likely to affect to a significant degree:

- (i) the safety or physical or mental integrity of the subjects of the trial; or
- (ii) the scientific value of the trial

The Sponsor must be notified immediately of any incident that may be classified as a serious breach. NCTU will notify the MHRA and the NHS REC within the required timelines in accordance with the NCTU SOP.

20.7. Data protection

The trial will be run in accordance with the Data Protection Act 2018, to maintain the confidentiality of trial participants and trial data integrity.

20.8. Indemnity

NHS indemnity for clinical trials conducted with NHS permission will apply for clinical negligence that harms individuals towards whom the NHS has a duty of care. Indemnity in respect of protocol authorship will be provided through a combination of NHS schemes (for those protocol authors who have substantive NHS employment contracts) and through Newcastle University's public liability insurance (for those who have their substantive contracts of employment with the University). There is no provision for indemnity in respect of non-negligent harm.

20.9. Amendments

It is the responsibility of the Sponsor to determine if an amendment is substantial or not and study procedures must not be changed without the mutual agreement of the CI, Sponsor and the TSC.

Substantial amendments will be submitted to the REC and/or MHRA (as appropriate) and will not be implemented until this approval is in place. It is the responsibility of NCTU to submit substantial amendments.

Non-substantial amendments will be submitted to the HRA and will not be implemented until authorisation is received.

Substantial amendments and those minor amendments which may impact sites will be submitted to the relevant NHS Research and Development (R&D) Departments for notification to determine if the amendment affects the NHS permission for that site. Amendment documentation will provide to sites by NCTU.

20.10. Final trial dataset

In accordance with CNTW, Government and NIHR policies, non-identifiable research data may be shared with researchers in other Universities and organisations (including those in other countries), for research in health and social care. If there is a need to share identifiable information, explicit consent will be sought from participants. Appropriate safeguards will be in place where any identifiable information is transferred to other countries, in particular those countries with different data protection laws to the UK.

We are committed to sharing de-identified individual level data, where a rigorous research question may be answered by those data. The site team, including NCTU staff and the CI, will consider proposals from researchers as long as there is no constraint due to:

- Ethical approval and informed consent.
- The NIHR contract.
- The request does not require the data prior to publication of the main trial findings.
- The request for data does not extend beyond that which is needed to answer the specific research question.

The CI is nominated by the Sponsor to take responsibility, as custodian of the data.

21. DISSEMINATION POLICY

Dissemination will include a final report to the NIHR.

Findings will be disseminated to the academic and clinical community via conference presentation and publication in peer review journals. Every effort will be made to include people with lived experience (such as LEAP members) as co-authors in all study publications. The study LEAP will be acknowledged in all study publications.

A plain English 'lay' summary of the findings will be disseminated to patients and their informal carers via social media and presentation at Bipolar UK meetings. A graphical summary of the results (an infographic) will also be produced by the McPin Foundation and will be made publicly available.

22. **REFERENCES**

1. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Antidepressants 2020 [Available from: https://bnf.nice.org.uk/treatment-summary/antidepressant-drugs.html.

2. Merikangas KR, Akiskal HS, Angst J, Greenberg PE, Hirschfeld RM, Petukhova M, et al. Lifetime and 12-month prevalence of bipolar spectrum disorder in the National Comorbidity Survey replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2007;64(5):543-52.

3. Clemente AS, Diniz BS, Nicolato R, Kapczinski FP, Soares JC, Firmo JO, et al. Bipolar disorder prevalence: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the literature. Rev Bras Psiquiatr. 2015;37(2):155-61.

4. Kessing LV, Vradi E, Andersen PK. Life expectancy in bipolar disorder. Bipolar Disord. 2015;17(5):543-8.

5. Simon J, Pari AAA, Wolstenholme J, Berger M, Goodwin GM, Geddes JR. The costs of bipolar disorder in the United Kingdom. Brain and behavior. 2021;11(10):e2351.

6. Judd LL, Akiskal HS, Schettler PJ, Endicott J, Maser J, Solomon DA, et al. The long-term natural history of the weekly symptomatic status of bipolar I disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2002;59:530 - 7.

7. Judd LL, Akiskal HS, Schettler PJ, Coryell W, Endicott J, Maser JD, et al. A prospective investigation of the natural history of the long-term weekly symptomatic status of bipolar II disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2003;60:261 - 9.

8. Kupka RW, Altshuler LL, Nolen WA, Suppes T, Luckenbaugh DA, Leverich GS, et al. Three times more days depressed than manic or hypomanic in both bipolar I and bipolar II disorder. Bipolar Disord. 2007;9(5):531-5.

9. Baldessarini RJ, Salvatore P, Khalsa H-MK, Gebre-Medhin P, Imaz H, González-Pinto A, et al. Morbidity in 303 first-episode bipolar I disorder patients. Bipolar Disord. 2010;12(3):264-70.

10. Kupfer DJ, Frank E, Grochocinski VJ, Luther JF, Houck PR, Swartz HA, et al. Stabilization in the treatment of mania, depression and mixed states. Acta Neuropsychiatr. 2000;12(3):110-4.

11. Michalak EE, Murray G, Young AH, Lam RW. Burden of Bipolar Depression. CNS Drugs. 2008;22(5):389-406.

12. Miller S, Dell'Osso B, Ketter TA. The prevalence and burden of bipolar depression. J Affect Disord. 2014;169:S3-S11.

13. Rosa A, Franco C, Martinez-Aran A, Sanchez-Moreno J, Reinares M, Salamero M, et al. Functional impairment in patients with remitted bipolar disorder. Bipolar Disord. 2007;9:90-.

14. Keck PE, Kessler RC, Ross R. Clinical and Economic Effects of Unrecognized or Inadequately Treated Bipolar Disorder. Journal of Psychiatric Practice[®]. 2008;14:31-8.

15. Vázquez GH, Tondo L, Undurraga J, Baldessarini RJ. Overview of antidepressant treatment of bipolar depression. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol. 2013;16(7):1673-85.

16. Calabrese JR, Hirschfeld RMA, Frye MA, Reed ML. Impact of depressive symptoms compared with manic symptoms in bipolar disorder: results of a U.S. community-based sample. The Journal of clinical psychiatry. 2004;65(11):1499-504.

17. Altshuler LL, Post RM, Black DO, Keck PE, Jr., Nolen WA, Frye MA, et al. Subsyndromal depressive symptoms are associated with functional impairment in patients with bipolar disorder: results of a large, multisite study. J Clin Psychiatry. 2006;67(10):1551-60.

18. Public Health England. Severe mental illness profile: April 2021 update 2021 [Available from: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/severe-mental-illness-profile-april-2021-update</u>.

19. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. The NICE Guideline on the Assessment and Management of Bipolar Disorder in Adults, Children and Young People in primary and Secondary Care Updated Edition. . NICE Guideline. 2017.

20. Bahji A, Ermacora D, Stephenson C, Hawken ER, Vazquez G. Comparative efficacy and tolerability of pharmacological treatments for the treatment of acute bipolar depression: A systematic review and network meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. 2020;269:154-84.

21. Parker G, Tully L, Olley A, Hadzi-Pavlovic D. SSRIs as mood stabilizers for Bipolar II Disorder? A proof of concept study. J Affect Disord. 2006;92(2-3):205-14.

22. Amsterdam JD, Shults J. Efficacy and mood conversion rate of short-term fluoxetine monotherapy of bipolar II major depressive episode. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 2010;30(3):306-11.

23. McElroy SL, Weisler RH, Chang W, Olausson B, Paulsson B, Brecher M, et al. A doubleblind, placebo-controlled study of quetiapine and paroxetine as monotherapy in adults with bipolar depression (EMBOLDEN II). J Clin Psychiatry. 2010;71(2):163-74.

24. Sidor MM, Macqueen GM. Antidepressants for the acute treatment of bipolar depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Psychiatry. 2011;72(2):156-67.

25. Licht RW, Gijsman H, Nolen WA, Angst J. Are antidepressants safe in the treatment of bipolar depression? A critical evaluation of their potential risk to induce switch into mania or cycle acceleration. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica. 2008;118(5):337-46.

26. El-Mallakh RS, Ghaemi SN, Sagduyu K, Thase ME, Wisniewski SR, Nierenberg AA, et al. Antidepressant-associated chronic irritable dysphoria (ACID) in STEP-BD patients. J Affect Disord. 2008;111(2-3):372-7.

27. Prien RF, Klett CJ, Caffey EM, Jr. Lithium carbonate and imipramine in prevention of affective episodes. A comparison in recurrent affective illness. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1973;29(3):420-5.

28. Prien RF, Kupfer DJ, Mansky PA, Small JG, Tuason VB, Voss CB, et al. Drug therapy in the prevention of recurrences in unipolar and bipolar affective disorders. Report of the NIMH Collaborative Study Group comparing lithium carbonate, imipramine, and a lithium carbonate-imipramine combination. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1984;41(11):1096-104.

29. Ghaemi SN, Wingo AP, Filkowski MA, Baldessarini RJ. Long-term antidepressant treatment in bipolar disorder: meta-analyses of benefits and risks. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica. 2008;118(5):347-56.

30. Tondo L, Vázquez G, Baldessarini RJ. Mania associated with antidepressant treatment: comprehensive meta-analytic review. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica. 2010;121(6):404-14.

31. Undurraga J, Baldessarini RJ, Valentí M, Pacchiarotti I, Tondo L, Vázquez G, et al. Bipolar depression: Clinical correlates of receiving antidepressants. J Affect Disord. 2012;139(1):89-93.

32. Truman CJ, Goldberg JF, Ghaemi SN, Baldassano CF, Wisniewski SR, Dennehy EB, et al. Self-reported history of manic/hypomanic switch associated with antidepressant use: data from the Systematic Treatment Enhancement Program for Bipolar Disorder (STEP-BD). J Clin Psychiatry. 2007;68(10):1472-9.

33. Pacchiarotti I, Bond DJ, Baldessarini RJ, Nolen WA, Grunze H, Licht RW, et al. The International Society for Bipolar Disorders (ISBD) task force report on antidepressant use in bipolar disorders. Am J Psychiatry. 2013;170(11):1249-62.

34. Lim CJ, Leckman JF, Young C, Martin A. Antidepressant-Induced Manic Conversion: A Developmentally Informed Synthesis of the Literature. International Review of Neurobiology. 65: Academic Press; 2005. p. 25-52.

35. Sachs GS, Koslow CL, Ghaemi SN. The treatment of bipolar depression. Bipolar Disord. 2000;2(3 Pt 2):256-60.

36. Tohen M, Vieta E, Calabrese J, Ketter TA, Sachs G, Bowden C, et al. Efficacy of olanzapine and olanzapine-fluoxetine combination in the treatment of bipolar I depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2003;60(11):1079-88.

37. Brown EB, McElroy SL, Keck PE, Deldar A, Adams DH, Tohen M, et al. A 7-week, randomized, double-blind trial of olanzapine/fluoxetine combination versus lamotrigine in the treatment of bipolar I depression. The Journal of clinical psychiatry. 2006;67(7):1025-33.

38. Kasper S, Calabrese JR, Johnson G, Tajima O, Vieta E, Viguera AC, et al. International Consensus Group on the Evidence-Based Pharmacologic Treatment of Bipolar I and II Depression. The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry. 2008;69(10):1632-46.

39. Calabrese JR, Kasper S, Johnson G, Tajima O, Vieta E, Yatham LN, et al. International Consensus Group on Bipolar I Depression Treatment Guidelines. The Journal of clinical psychiatry. 2004;65(4):571-9.

40. Goodwin G, Haddad P, Ferrier I, Aronston J, Barnes T, Cipriani A, et al. Evidence-based guidelines for treating bipolar disorder: Revised third edition recommendations from the British Association for Psychopharmacology. Journal of Psychopharmacology. 2016;30(6):495-553.

41. Yatham LN, Kennedy SH, Parikh SV, Schaffer A, Beaulieu S, Alda M, et al. Canadian Network for Mood and Anxiety Treatments (CANMAT) and International Society for Bipolar Disorders (ISBD) collaborative update of CANMAT guidelines for the management of patients with bipolar disorder: update 2013. Bipolar Disord. 2013;15(1):1-44.

42. Nivoli AM, Colom F, Murru A, Pacchiarotti I, Castro-Loli P, Gonzalez-Pinto A, et al. New treatment guidelines for acute bipolar depression: a systematic review. J Affect Disord. 2011;129(1-3):14-26.

43. Grunze H, Vieta E, Goodwin GM, Bowden C, Licht RW, Möller H-J, et al. The World Federation of Societies of Biological Psychiatry (WFSBP) Guidelines for the Biological Treatment of Bipolar Disorders: Update 2012 on the long-term treatment of bipolar disorder. The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry. 2013;14(3):154-219.

44. Malhi GS, Bassett D, Boyce P, Bryant R, Fitzgerald PB, Fritz K, et al. Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists clinical practice guidelines for mood disorders. Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry. 2015;49(12):1087-206.

45. Forbes G. Prescribing database of all (680) patients with a recorded diagnosis of bipolar disorder in North Durham. 2020.

46. Thase ME, Corya SA, Osuntokun O, Case M, Henley DB, Sanger TM, et al. A randomized, double-blind comparison of olanzapine/fluoxetine combination, olanzapine, and fluoxetine in treatment-resistant major depressive disorder. The Journal of clinical psychiatry. 2007;68(2):224-36.

47. Shelton RC, Williamson DJ, Corya SA, Sanger TM, Van Campen LE, Case M, et al. Olanzapine/fluoxetine combination for treatment-resistant depression: a controlled study of SSRI and nortriptyline resistance. The Journal of clinical psychiatry. 2005;66(10):1289-97.

48. Corya SA, Williamson D, Sanger TM, Briggs SD, Case M, Tollefson G. A randomized, double-blind comparison of olanzapine/fluoxetine combination, olanzapine, fluoxetine, and venlafaxine in treatment-resistant depression. Depress Anxiety. 2006;23(6):364-72.

49. Bauer M, Pretorius HW, Constant EL, Earley WR, Szamosi J, Brecher M. Extendedrelease quetiapine as adjunct to an antidepressant in patients with major depressive disorder: results of a randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind study. The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry. 2009;70(4):540-9.

50. El-Khalili N, Joyce M, Atkinson S, Buynak RJ, Datto C, Lindgren P, et al. Extendedrelease quetiapine fumarate (quetiapine XR) as adjunctive therapy in major depressive disorder (MDD) in patients with an inadequate response to ongoing antidepressant treatment: a multicentre, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol. 2010;13(7):917-32.

51. McIntyre A, Gendron A, McIntyre A. Quetiapine adjunct to selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors or venlafaxine in patients with major depression, comorbid anxiety, and residual depressive symptoms: a randomized, placebo-controlled pilot study. Depress Anxiety. 2007;24(7):487-94.

52. Calabrese JR, Keck PE, Jr., Macfadden W, Minkwitz M, Ketter TA, Weisler RH, et al. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of quetiapine in the treatment of bipolar I or II depression. Am J Psychiatry. 2005;162(7):1351-60.

53. Kim A, Lim KS, Lee H, Chung H, Yoon SH, Yu K-S, et al. A thorough QT study to evaluate the QTc prolongation potential of two neuropsychiatric drugs, quetiapine and escitalopram, in healthy volunteers. International Clinical Psychopharmacology. 2016;31(4):210-7.

54. Czekalla J, Beasley CM, Dellva MA, Berg PH, Grundy S. Analysis of the QTc interval during olanzapine treatment of patients with schizophrenia and related psychosis. The Journal of clinical psychiatry. 2001;62(3):191-8.

55. emc. Seroquel 25mg fim coated tablets 2020 [Available from: <u>https://www.medicines.org.uk/emc/product/5495/smpc</u>.

56. Ketter TA, Miller S, Dell'Osso B, Calabrese JR, Frye MA, Citrome L. Balancing benefits and harms of treatments for acute bipolar depression. J Affect Disord. 2014;169 Suppl 1:S24-33.

57. Geddes JR, Calabrese JR, Goodwin GM. Lamotrigine for treatment of bipolar depression: independent meta-analysis and meta-regression of individual patient data from five randomised trials. Br J Psychiatry. 2009;194(1):4-9.

58. Gitlin MJ. Antidepressants in bipolar depression: an enduring controversy. International Journal of Bipolar Disorders. 2018;6(1):25.

59. Cleare A, Pariante CM, Young AH, Anderson IM, Christmas D, Cowen PJ, et al. Evidence-based guidelines for treating depressive disorders with antidepressants: A revision of the 2008 British Association for Psychopharmacology guidelines. J Psychopharmacol. 2015;29(5):459-525.

60. James Lind Alliance. Bipolar Top 10 2020 [Available from: <u>https://www.jla.nihr.ac.uk/priority-setting-partnerships/bipolar/top-10-priorities/top-10-priorities.htm</u>.

61. Taylor DM. Aripiprazole: a review of its pharmacology and clinical use. Int J Clin Pract. 2003;57(1):49-54.

62. DeLeon A, Patel NC, Crismon ML. Aripiprazole: a comprehensive review of its pharmacology, clinical efficacy, and tolerability. Clin Ther. 2004;26(5):649-66.

63. Kendrick T, Burns T, Garland C, Greenwood N, Smith P. Are specialist mental health services being targeted on the most needy patients? The effects of setting up special services in general practice. British Journal of General Practice. 2000;50(451):121-6.

64. Reilly S, Planner C, Hann M, Reeves D, Nazareth I, Lester H. The role of primary care in service provision for people with severe mental illness in the United Kingdom. PloS one. 2012;7(5):e36468-e.

65. Lester H, Tritter JQ, Sorohan H. Patients' and health professionals' views on primary care for people with serious mental illness: focus group study. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2005;330(7500):1122-.

66. Kozlowska O, Lumb A, Tan GD, Rea R. Barriers and facilitators to integrating primary and specialist healthcare in the United Kingdom: a narrative literature review. Future Healthc J. 2018;5(1):64-80.

67. Bindman J, Johnson S, Wright S, Szmukler G, Bebbington P, Kuipers E, et al. Integration between primary and secondary services in the care of the severely mentally ill: patients' and general practitioners' views. Br J Psychiatry. 1997;171(2):169-74.

68. NHS England. The NHS Long Term Plan. 2019 August 2019.

69. Keck Jr PE, McElroy SL. Aripiprazole: a partial dopamine D2 receptor agonist antipsychotic. Expert Opinion on Investigational Drugs. 2003;12(4):655-62.

70. Schultz W. Dopamine neurons and their role in reward mechanisms. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 1997;7(2):191-7.

71. Lane RM. Antidepressant drug development: Focus on triple monoamine reuptake inhibition. J Psychopharmacol. 2015;29(5):526-44.

72. Blier P, Blondeau C. Neurobiological bases and clinical aspects of the use of aripiprazole in treatment-resistant major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord. 2011;128 Suppl 1:S3-10.

73. Lapointe T, Hudson R, Daniels S, Melanson B, Zhou Y, Leri F. Effects of combined escitalopram and aripiprazole in rats: role of the 5-HT1a receptor. Psychopharmacology. 2019;236(7):2273-81.

74. Shapiro DA, Renock S, Arrington E, Chiodo LA, Liu L-X, Sibley DR, et al. Aripiprazole, A Novel Atypical Antipsychotic Drug with a Unique and Robust Pharmacology. Neuropsychopharmacol. 2003;28(8):1400-11.

75. Yatham LN, Goldstein JM, Vieta E, Bowden CL, Grunze H, Post RM, et al. Atypical antipsychotics in bipolar depression: potential mechanisms of action. The Journal of clinical psychiatry. 2005;66 Suppl 5:40-8.

76. Papakostas GI, Shelton RC, Smith J, Fava M. Augmentation of antidepressants with atypical antipsychotic medications for treatment-resistant major depressive disorder: a metaanalysis. J Clin Psychiatry. 2007;68(6):826-31.

77. Spielmans GI, Berman MI, Linardatos E, Rosenlicht NZ, Perry A, Tsai AC. Adjunctive Atypical Antipsychotic Treatment for Major Depressive Disorder: A Meta-Analysis of Depression, Quality of Life, and Safety Outcomes. PLOS Medicine. 2013;10(3):e1001403.

78. Berman RM, Fava M, Thase ME, Trivedi MH, Swanink R, McQuade RD, et al. Aripiprazole Augmentation in Major Depressive Disorder: A Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Study in Patients with Inadequate Response to Antidepressants. CNS Spectrums. 2009;14(4):197-206.

79. Marcus RN, McQuade RD, Carson WH, Hennicken D, Fava M, Simon JS, et al. The efficacy and safety of aripiprazole as adjunctive therapy in major depressive disorder: a second multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 2008;28(2):156-65.

80. Berman RM, Marcus RN, Swanink R, McQuade RD, Carson WH, Corey-Lisle PK, et al. The efficacy and safety of aripiprazole as adjunctive therapy in major depressive disorder: a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. The Journal of clinical psychiatry. 2007;68(6):843-53.

81. Mohamed S, Johnson GR, Chen P, Hicks PB, Davis LL, Yoon J, et al. Effect of Antidepressant Switching vs Augmentation on Remission Among Patients With Major Depressive Disorder Unresponsive to Antidepressant Treatment: The VAST-D Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA. 2017;318(2):132-45.

82. Kamijima K, Higuchi T, Ishigooka J, Ohmori T, Ozaki N, Kanba S, et al. Aripiprazole augmentation to antidepressant therapy in Japanese patients with major depressive disorder: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study (ADMIRE study). J Affect Disord. 2013;151(3):899-905.

83. Montgomery SA, Asberg M. A New Depression Scale Designed to be Sensitive to Change. Br J Psychiatry. 1979;134:382-9.

84. Tondo L, Baldessarini RJ, Vázquez G, Lepri B, Visioli C. Clinical responses to antidepressants among 1036 acutely depressed patients with bipolar or unipolar major affective disorders. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica. 2013;127(5):355-64.

85. Tundo A, Calabrese JR, Proietti L, de Filippis R. Short-term antidepressant treatment of bipolar depression: Are ISBD recommendations useful in clinical practice? J Affect Disord. 2015;171:155-60.

86. Dunn RT, Stan VA, Chriki LS, Filkowski MM, Ghaemi SN. A prospective, open-label study of Aripiprazole mono- and adjunctive treatment in acute bipolar depression. J Affect Disord. 2008;110(1):70-4.

87. Ketter TA, Wang PW, Chandler RA, Culver JL, Alarcon AM. Adjunctive Aripiprazole in Treatment-Resistant Bipolar Depression. Ann Clin Psychiatry. 2006;18(3):169-72.

88. Yatham LN. A clinical review of aripiprazole in bipolar depression and maintenance therapy of bipolar disorder. J Affect Disord. 2011;128:S21-S8.

89. McElroy SL, Suppes T, Frye MA, Altshuler LL, Stanford K, Martens B, et al. Open-label aripiprazole in the treatment of acute bipolar depression: A prospective pilot trial. J Affect Disord. 2007;101(1):275-81.

90. Schweitzer I, Sarris J, Tuckwell V, Maguire K, Smith D, Ng C. Aripiprazole as augmentation therapy in bipolar patients with current minor or subsyndromal mood symptoms. International journal of bipolar disorders. 2013;1:4-.

91. Kemp DE, Gilmer WS, Fleck J, Straus JL, Dago PL, Karaffa M. Aripiprazole augmentation in treatment-resistant bipolar depression: Early response and development of akathisia. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry. 2007;31(2):574-7.

92. Sokolski KN. Adjunctive Aripiprazole in Bipolar I Depression. Annals of Pharmacotherapy. 2007;41(1):35-40.

93. Barbee JG, Conrad EJ, J. Jamhour N. Aripiprazole Augmentation in Treatment-Resistant Depression. Ann Clin Psychiatry. 2004;16(4):189-94.

94. Kelly T, Lieberman DZ. The Utility of Low-Dose Aripiprazole for the Treatment of Bipolar II and Bipolar NOS Depression. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 2017;37(1):99-101.

95. Montgomery SA, Möller H-J. Is the significant superiority of escitalopram compared with other antidepressants clinically relevant? International Clinical Psychopharmacology. 2009;24(3):111-8.

96. Quante A, Zeugmann S, Luborzewski A, Schommer N, Langosch J, Born C, et al. Aripiprazole as adjunct to a mood stabilizer and citalopram in bipolar depression: a randomized placebo-controlled pilot study. Human Psychopharmacology: Clinical and Experimental. 2010;25(2):126-32.

97. Hamilton M. A rating scale for depression. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1960;23:56 - 62.

98. Brown R, Taylor MJ, Geddes J. Aripiprazole alone or in combination for acute mania. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2013(12).

99. Cipriani A, Barbui C, Salanti G, Rendell J, Brown R, Stockton S, et al. Comparative efficacy and acceptability of antimanic drugs in acute mania: a multiple-treatments metaanalysis. The Lancet. 2011;378(9799):1306-15.

100. Huhn M, Nikolakopoulou A, Schneider-Thoma J, Krause M, Samara M, Peter N, et al. Comparative efficacy and tolerability of 32 oral antipsychotics for the acute treatment of adults with multi-episode schizophrenia: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Lancet. 2019;394(10202):939-51.

101. Polcwiartek C, Sneider B, Graff C, Taylor D, Meyer J, Kanters JK, et al. The cardiac safety of aripiprazole treatment in patients at high risk for torsade: a systematic review with a metaanalytic approach. Psychopharmacology. 2015;232(18):3297-308.

102. Crespo-Facorro B, Ortiz-Garcia de la Foz V, Suarez-Pinilla P, Valdizan EM, Pérez-Iglesias R, Amado-Señaris JA, et al. Effects of aripiprazole, quetiapine and ziprasidone on plasma prolactin levels in individuals with first episode nonaffective psychosis: Analysis of a randomized open-label 1year study. Schizophr Res. 2017;189:134-41.

103. Cipriani A, Furukawa TA, Salanti G, Chaimani A, Atkinson LZ, Ogawa Y, et al. Comparative efficacy and acceptability of 21 antidepressant drugs for the acute treatment of adults with major depressive disorder: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Lancet. 2018;391(10128):1357-66.

104. Richelson E. Pharmacology of antidepressants. Mayo Clinic Proceedings. 2001;76(5):511-27.

105. Kaufman KR, Gerner R. Lamotrigine toxicity secondary to sertraline. Seizure. 1998;7(2):163-5.

106. De Vane CL, Liston HL, Markowitz JS. Clinical Pharmacokinetics of Sertraline. Clinical Pharmacokinetics. 2002;41(15):1247-66.

107. Milosheska D, Lorber B, Vovk T, Kastelic M, Dolžan V, Grabnar I. Pharmacokinetics of lamotrigine and its metabolite N-2-glucuronide: Influence of polymorphism of UDP-glucuronosyltransferases and drug transporters. British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology. 2016;82(2):399-411.

108. Young AH, McElroy SL, Bauer M, Philips N, Chang W, Olausson B, et al. A double-blind, placebo-controlled study of quetiapine and lithium monotherapy in adults in the acute phase of bipolar depression (EMBOLDEN I). J Clin Psychiatry. 2010;71(2):150-62.

109. Thase ME, Macfadden W, Weisler RH, Chang W, Paulsson B, Khan A, et al. Efficacy of quetiapine monotherapy in bipolar I and II depression: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study (the BOLDER II study). J Clin Psychopharmacol. 2006;26(6):600-9.

110. Geddes JR, Gardiner A, Rendell J, Voysey M, Tunbridge E, Hinds C, et al. Comparative evaluation of quetiapine plus lamotrigine combination versus quetiapine monotherapy (and folic acid versus placebo) in bipolar depression (CEQUEL): a 2 x 2 factorial randomised trial. The lancet Psychiatry. 2016;3(1):31-9.

111. BNF. Quetiapine. Medicinal Forms: National Institute for Health and Care Excellency,;2020 [

112. Marwood L, Taylor R, Goldsmith K, Romeo R, Holland R, Pickles A, et al. Study protocol for a randomised pragmatic trial comparing the clinical and cost effectiveness of lithium and

quetiapine augmentation in treatment resistant depression (the LQD study). BMC psychiatry. 2017;17(1):231.

113. Gibbons R, Hur K, Lavigne J, Wang J, Mann JJ. Medications and Suicide: High Dimensional Empirical Bayes Screening (iDEAS): Supplementary File. Harvard Data Science Review. 2019;1(2).

114. Bodén R, Lundgren M, Brandt L, Reutfors J, Andersen M, Kieler H. Risks of adverse pregnancy and birth outcomes in women treated or not treated with mood stabilisers for bipolar disorder: population based cohort study. BMJ. 2012;345:e7085.

115. Lin H-C, Chen I-J, Chen Y-H, Lee H-C, Wu F-J. Maternal schizophrenia and pregnancy outcome: does the use of antipsychotics make a difference? Schizophr Res. 2010;116(1):55-60.

116. Petersen I, McCrea RL, Sammon CJ, Osborn DP, Evans SJ, Cowen PJ, et al. Risks and benefits of psychotropic medication in pregnancy: cohort studies based on UK electronic primary care health records. Health Technol Assess. 2016;20(23):1-176.

117. Viguera AC, Freeman MP, Góez-Mogollón L, Sosinsky AZ, McElheny SA, Church TR, et al. Reproductive safety of second-generation antipsychotics: updated data from the Massachusetts General Hospital National Pregnancy Registry for Atypical Antipsychotics. The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry. 2021;82(4):35609.

118. Huybrechts KF, Hernández-Díaz S, Patorno E, Desai RJ, Mogun H, Dejene SZ, et al. Antipsychotic Use in Pregnancy and the Risk for Congenital Malformations. JAMA Psychiatry. 2016;73(9):938-46.

119. McAllister-Williams RH, Baldwin DS, Cantwell R, Easter A, Gilvarry E, Glover V, et al. British Association for Psychopharmacology consensus guidance on the use of psychotropic medication preconception, in pregnancy and postpartum 2017. J Psychopharmacol. 2017;31(5):519-52.

120. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Antenatal and postnatal mental health: clinical management and service guidance Updated Feb 2020. 2014.

121. Vigod SN, Gomes T, Wilton AS, Taylor VH, Ray JG. Antipsychotic drug use in pregnancy: high dimensional, propensity matched, population based cohort study. BMJ. 2015;350:h2298.
122. Ennis ZN, Damkier P. Pregnancy Exposure to Olanzapine, Quetiapine, Risperidone, Aripiprazole and Risk of Congenital Malformations. A Systematic Review. Basic & Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology. 2015;116(4):315-20.

123. Terrana N, Koren G, Pivovarov J, Etwel F, Nulman I. Pregnancy Outcomes Following In Utero Exposure to Second-Generation Antipsychotics: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 2015;35(5):559-65.

124. Coughlin CG, Blackwell KA, Bartley C, Hay M, Yonkers KA, Bloch MH. Obstetric and neonatal outcomes after antipsychotic medication exposure in pregnancy. Obstetrics and gynecology. 2015;125(5):1224.

125. Freeman MP, Viguera AC, Góez-Mogollón L, Young AV, Caplin PS, McElheny SA, et al. Reproductive safety of aripiprazole: data from the Massachusetts general hospital National pregnancy registry for atypical antipsychotics. Archives of women's mental health. 2021;24:659-67.

126. Cohen LS, Church TR, Freeman MP, Gaccione P, Caplin PS, Kobylski LA, et al. Reproductive Safety of Lurasidone and Quetiapine: Update from the National Pregnancy Registry for Psychiatric Medications. Journal of Women's Health. 2023;32(4):452-62. 127. Pacchiarotti I, León-Caballero J, Murru A, Verdolini N, Furio MA, Pancheri C, et al. Mood stabilizers and antipsychotics during breastfeeding: Focus on bipolar disorder. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 2016;26(10):1562-78.

128. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Depression in adults: treatment and management 2022 [Available from: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng222</u>.

129. Bruning AH, Heller HM, Kieviet N, Bakker PC, de Groot CJ, Dolman KM, et al. Antidepressants during pregnancy and postpartum hemorrhage: a systematic review. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2015;189:38-47.

130. Hanley GE, Smolina K, Mintzes B, Oberlander TF, Morgan SG. Postpartum Hemorrhage and Use of Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitor Antidepressants in Pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol. 2016;127(3):553-61.

131. Huybrechts KF, Hernández-Díaz S, Avorn J. Antidepressant use in pregnancy and the risk of cardiac defects. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(12):1168-9.

132. Malm H, Artama M, Gissler M, Ritvanen A. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and risk for major congenital anomalies. Obstet Gynecol. 2011;118(1):111-20.

133. Huybrechts KF, Bateman BT, Palmsten K, Desai RJ, Patorno E, Gopalakrishnan C, et al. Antidepressant use late in pregnancy and risk of persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn. JAMA. 2015;313(21):2142-51.

134. Weissman AM, Levy BT, Hartz AJ, Bentler S, Donohue M, Ellingrod VL, et al. Pooled analysis of antidepressant levels in lactating mothers, breast milk, and nursing infants. Am J Psychiatry. 2004;161(6):1066-78.

135. Hendrick V, Fukuchi A, Altshuler L, Widawski M, Wertheimer A, Brunhuber MV. Use of sertraline, paroxetine and fluvoxamine by nursing women. Br J Psychiatry. 2001;179:163-6.

136. National Library of Medicine. The National Center for Biotechnology Information. Drugs and Lactation Database (LactMed[®]) [Internet]: Sertraline 2022 [Available from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/sites/books/NBK501191/</u>.

137. Cohen LS, Nonacs RM, Bailey JW, Viguera AC, Reminick AM, Altshuler LL, et al. Relapse of depression during pregnancy following antidepressant discontinuation: a preliminary prospective study. Archives of women's mental health. 2004;7(4):217-21.

138. Cohen LS, Viguera AC, McInerney KA, Freeman MP, Sosinsky AZ, Moustafa D, et al. Reproductive Safety of Second-Generation Antipsychotics: Current Data From the Massachusetts General Hospital National Pregnancy Registry for Atypical Antipsychotics. Am J Psychiatry. 2016;173(3):263-70.

139. Yonkers KA, Gotman N, Smith MV, Forray A, Belanger K, Brunetto WL, et al. Does antidepressant use attenuate the risk of a major depressive episode in pregnancy? Epidemiology. 2011;22(6):848-54.

140. Talge NM, Neal C, Glover V. Antenatal maternal stress and long-term effects on child neurodevelopment: how and why? J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2007;48(3-4):245-61.

141. Glover V. Maternal depression, anxiety and stress during pregnancy and child outcome; what needs to be done. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2014;28(1):25-35.

142. Pawlby S, Hay DF, Sharp D, Waters CS, O'Keane V. Antenatal depression predicts depression in adolescent offspring: prospective longitudinal community-based study. J Affect Disord. 2009;113(3):236-43.

143. Pawlby S, Hay D, Sharp D, Waters CS, Pariante CM. Antenatal depression and offspring psychopathology: the influence of childhood maltreatment. Br J Psychiatry. 2011;199(2):106-12.

144. Grzeskowiak LE, Gilbert AL, Morrison JL. Neonatal outcomes after late-gestation exposure to selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 2012;32(5):615-21.

145. Wesseloo R, Kamperman AM, Munk-Olsen T, Pop VJ, Kushner SA, Bergink V. Risk of Postpartum Relapse in Bipolar Disorder and Postpartum Psychosis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Am J Psychiatry. 2016;173(2):117-27.

146. NIHR Maudsley Biomedical Research Centre. What is CRIS 2020 [Available from: https://www.maudsleybrc.nihr.ac.uk/facilities/clinical-record-interactive-search-cris/whatis-cris/.

147. Public Health England. Criteria for appraising the viability, effectiveness and appropriateness of a screening programme. 2015.

148. Bosanquet K, Bailey D, Gilbody S, Harden M, Manea L, Nutbrown S, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of the Whooley questions for the identification of depression: a diagnostic metaanalysis. BMJ open. 2015;5(12):e008913.

149. Whooley MA, Avins AL, Miranda J, Browner WS. Case-Finding Instruments for Depression. Journal of General Internal Medicine. 1997;12(7):439-45.

150. Benazzi F, Akiskal HS. The dual factor structure of self-rated MDQ hypomania: energized-activity versus irritable-thought racing. J Affect Disord. 2003;73(1):59-64.

151. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JBW. The PHQ-9. Journal of General Internal Medicine. 2001;16(9):606-13.

152. BASIL. Behavioral Activation in Social Isolation 2020 [Available from: <u>https://sites.google.com/nihr.ac.uk/basil/home</u>.

153. First MB, Williams JBW, Karg RS, Spitzer RL. Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-5, Research Version. Arlington, VA,: American Psychiatric Association, 2015; 2015.

154. Legislation.gov.uk. Mental Capacity Act. 2005.

155. Saunders B, Sim J, Kingstone T, Baker S, Waterfield J, Bartlam B, et al. Saturation in qualitative research: exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. Quality & Quantity. 2018;52(4):1893-907.

156. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative Research in Psychology. 2006;3(2):77-101.

157. Sekhon M, Cartwright M, Francis JJ. Acceptability of healthcare interventions: an overview of reviews and development of a theoretical framework. BMC Health Services Research. 2017;17(1):88.

158. Avery KNL, Williamson PR, Gamble C, O'Connell Francischetto E, Metcalfe C, Davidson P, et al. Informing efficient randomised controlled trials: exploration of challenges in developing progression criteria for internal pilot studies. BMJ open. 2017;7(2):e013537.

159. National Institute for Health and Clinical Care Excellence. British National Formula (BNF) 2023 [Available from: <u>https://bnf.nice.org.uk/</u>.

160. McElroy SL, Martens BE, Winstanley EL, Creech R, Malhotra S, Keck PE, Jr. Placebocontrolled study of quetiapine monotherapy in ambulatory bipolar spectrum disorder with moderate-to-severe hypomania or mild mania. J Affect Disord. 2010;124(1-2):157-63.

161. Reimherr FW, Chouinard G, Cohn CK, Cole JO, Itil TM, LaPierre YD, et al. Antidepressant efficacy of sertraline: a double-blind, placebo- and amitriptyline-controlled, multicenter comparison study in outpatients with major depression. J Clin Psychiatry. 1990;51 Suppl B:18-27.

162. Doogan DP, Langdon CJ. A double-blind, placebo-controlled comparison of sertraline and dothiepin in the treatment of major depression in general practice. Int Clin Psychopharmacol. 1994;9(2):95-100.

163. Bennie EH, Mullin JM, Martindale JJ. A double-blind multicenter trial comparing sertraline and fluoxetine in outpatients with major depression. J Clin Psychiatry. 1995;56(6):229-37.

164. Hedayati SS, Gregg LP, Carmody T, Jain N, Toups M, Rush AJ, et al. Effect of Sertraline on Depressive Symptoms in Patients With Chronic Kidney Disease Without Dialysis Dependence: The CAST Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA. 2017;318(19):1876-90.

165. Kingslake J, Dias R, Dawson GR, Simon J, Goodwin GM, Harmer CJ, et al. The effects of using the PReDicT Test to guide the antidepressant treatment of depressed patients: study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. Trials. 2017;18(1):558.

166. Curtis LA, Burns A. Unit Costs of Health & Social Care: Personal Social Services Research Unit, University of Kent; 2020 [Available from: <u>https://kar.kent.ac.uk/84818/</u>.

167. Abdul Pari AA, Simon J, Wolstenholme J, Geddes JR, Goodwin GM. Economic evaluations in bipolar disorder: a systematic review and critical appraisal. Bipolar Disord. 2014;16(6):557-82.

168. O'Neill J, Tabish H, Welch V, Petticrew M, Pottie K, Clarke M, et al. Applying an equity lens to interventions: using PROGRESS ensures consideration of socially stratifying factors to illuminate inequities in health. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 2014;67(1):56-64.

169. Medicines and Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency. Clinical Practice Research Datalink 2023 [Available from: <u>https://cprd.com/</u>.

23. APPENDICES

23.1. Appendix 1 – Trial medication guidance

Clinicians are encouraged to use their own judgment with regards to the dosages of sertraline, aripiprazole and quetiapine prescribed to participants of ASCEnD. The following guidance has been written in accordance with SmPC and BNF guidance, but clinicians should be informed by a participant's weekly clinical scale scores and reported side effects.

Sertraline/Aripiprazole

The BNF recommends a dose range of 50-200 mg sertraline daily for individuals experiencing depression and 15-30mg aripiprazole daily for individuals with bipolar disorder. However, for aripiprazole, research evidence suggests effectiveness of lower doses up to 10mg daily for antidepressant augmentation (see section 2.4).

As a result, starting daily dosages of 50 mg sertraline and 2.5 mg aripiprazole are recommended for participants for ASCEnD with dose increases, if lack of clinical response suggests and tolerability allows, of 50 mg sertraline or 2.5 mg aripiprazole (alternating) to a maximum of 150 mg and 10 mg daily, respectively.

Quetiapine

The BNF recommends a dose range of 300-600 mg quetiapine daily for individuals experiencing bipolar depression. Quetiapine daily doses in clinical trials typically start at 50 mg and increase to 300 mg. ASCEnD will rely on guidance from the CEQUEL study which achieved a dose of 300 mg by day 7 (50 mg by days 1 and 2, 100mg by days 3 and 4 and 200mg by days 5 and 6) in order to minimise the risk of side effects¹.

Quetiapine is available in an immediate release (IR) and in an extended release (XL) formulation. The choice between IR and XL will remain a clinical decision in participants randomised to quetiapine.

Contraindications

A study-specific supportive document is available as a ready reference guide for concomitant cautions and drug interactions with IMPs. However, clinicians should refer to the most recent SmPC and BNF for guidance regarding safe prescribing.

¹ Geddes JR, Gardiner A, Rendell J, Voysey M, Tunbridge E, Hinds C, et al. Comparative evaluation of quetiapine plus lamotrigine combination versus quetiapine monotherapy (and folic acid versus placebo) in bipolar depression (CEQUEL): a 2 x 2 factorial randomised trial. The Lancet Psychiatry. 2016;3(1):31-9.

23.2. Appendix 2 – Research+Me

The <u>Research+Me</u> registry is an NHS-owned recruitment platform developed to empower patients (and healthy volunteers) to access research available via the following link: <u>https://newcastlejro.com/take-part/researchplusme/</u>.

The platform has approval from the Health Research Authority Research Ethics Committee (REC Ref. 23/NE/0090), has a robust infrastructure and governance protocols, and an excellent track record. There is synergy and joint working with the NIHR Be Part of Research (BPoR) registry. The Research+Me registry stores data securely and has mechanisms for inviting patients and healthy volunteers in an efficient manner, utilising detailed pre-screening surveys. This provides a steady flow of potential participants to sites at a level that maximises delivery capacity.

The platform is able to invite registrants to participate in trials, perform online eligibility assessments, assess the outcome of those assessments to determining eligibility and direct eligible participants to their nearest recruiting site.

The platform will process potential participants from within the registry itself, from external promotions (social media campaign, GP PIC sites, posters etc) and from the NIHR BPoR registry. Potential participants coming from BPoR should not register with the registry part of Research+Me as this might cause future confusion. Some of the volunteers from external promotions may also prefer not to register with Research+Me, all will have a choice on initial contact with the platform as shown in the figure below.



Those individuals registering with the Research+Me registry will follow the usual REC-approved processes, with appropriate consent and provision of privacy statement. In these cases, the data controller will be Newcastle Hospitals. For those in the 'ASCEnD only pathway', the Research+Me platform acts as a data processor, whilst the study sponsor acts as the data controller which will have a separate consent form and privacy statement.

Volunteers who complete the online eligibility assessment will be informed of the outcome (potentially eligible or not eligible) and will receive an automated email containing signposts to sources of additional support.

Eligible participants will be provided with contact details of the nearest research site (determined by postcode tagging) and, if they have agreed, their contact details will be passed on to that research team. A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) will be executed to describe the data flows. Sites receiving data will need to confirm they have read and understood the DPIA and abide by appropriate data sharing conditions.
23.3. Appendix 3 - Safety reporting diagram



Send completed ASCEnD SAE reporting forms to <u>nctu.ascend.sae@nhs.net.</u>

Amendment number	Protocol version	Date	Author(s) of changes	Details of changes made
SA02	V3.0	11/09/2024	ASCEnD trial management group members	Minor typographical errors throughout Updates to Key Trial Contacts Update to Glossary of Terms and Abbreviations Addition of exploratory REWARD study throughout Section 3.1 Update to procedure in relation to suicide risk Section 3.2 New section relating to procedure in relation to domestic violence risk Section 4.2 Clarification of primary objective to avoid confusion related to hypothesis testing language Section 4.3 Clarification of primary outcome baseline timepoint Section 4.5 Addition of new exploratory objectives and outcome measures relating to REWARD study Section 5 Update to diagram Section 5.1 Update to Schedule of Events to add REWARD study assessments and clarify that participant recompense will be provided by sites in line with site agreements Section 6 Removed diagram, addition of further details around self-referral to the trial and online pre-screening assessment provided by Research Plus me Section 8.1 Addition of Gorilla ePRO for exploratory REWARD study Section 8.2 Clarification that sites may use paper worksheets as source data Section 8.2.1 Clarification around consent to inform GP and refers around participation in the trial, and around optional consent for REWARD and qualitative studies Section 8.2.2 Addition of details of actions post-confirmation of eligibility Section 8.2.3 Change of time period for informal carer recruitment from 7 to 14 days Section 9 and 9 1 Addition of any REWARD study baseline measures

23.4. Appendix 4 – Amendment history

Section 9.3 Clarification that prescribers may include non-medical prescribers where
this is standard procedure at site for these medications
Section 10.1 Update that cRAs will use a spreadsheet as source data, and that cRAs
or site staff may support in questionnaire completion
Section 10.2 Addition of exploratory REWARD study measures
Section 11.2 Clarification around communication pathway of withdrawals
Section 12 Additional details around participant recompense
Section 14.1 Expanded details around qualitative study including recruitment, data
protection and withdrawals
Section 16 Clarification of roles and responsibilities
Section 16.14 Update that a short form annual safety report will be submitted in lieu
of a DSUR
Section 18 Additional details around data handling, including in relation to
Research+Me, qualitative and REWARD studies
Section 20.3 Change of institution for PPI member of team
Appendix 2 Addition of further details relating to recruitment via Research+Me
Removal of previous Appendix 3 (summary of NICE monitoring recommendations)